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PART I. FINANCI AL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)
Rightside Group, Ltd.
Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
June 30,
2016

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred registration costs
Total current assets
Deferred registration costs, less current portion
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
gTLD deposits
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Debt
Capital lease obligation
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, less current portion
Debt, less current portion
Capital lease obligation, less current portion
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 20,000 shares authorized
Shares issued and outstanding: 0 and 0
Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 100,000 shares authorized
Shares issued and outstanding: 19,300 and 19,099
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

December 31,
2015

47,809
12,669
5,214
77,915
143,607
16,298
11,818
52,371
103,042
2,540
1,072
330,748

$

8,300
20,262
1,500
1,101
102,326
133,489
21,158
21,751
399
15,003
842
192,642

$

$

—

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2
149,873
(11,769)
138,106
330,748

45,095
11,306
7,233
75,435
139,069
15,700
13,298
54,328
103,042
8,139
1,451
335,027

7,262
24,591
1,500
1,193
97,593
132,139
20,487
21,701
811
15,477
1,125
191,740

—

$

2
147,475
(4,190)
143,287
335,027

Rightside Group, Ltd.
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Revenue
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on other assets, net
Interest expense
Other income, net
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net and comprehensive loss

$

$

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted

$

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

54,037 $
40,695
2,706
4,741
5,280
4,203
(2,219)
1,218
(41)
(2,546)
(75)
(2,471) $

52,171
40,330
2,533
5,267
4,904
4,094
262
1,226
(44)
(6,401)
(728)
(5,673)

$

(0.13) $
(0.13)

(0.30)
(0.30)

$

19,247
19,247

18,805
18,805

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

109,161
82,615
5,344
10,625
10,204
8,249
(2,218)
2,453
(90)
(8,021)
(443)
(7,578)

$

(0.39)
(0.39)

$

19,197
19,197

$

102,702
79,287
5,027
10,382
9,887
8,080
(6,961)
2,470
(2)
(5,468)
(1,671)
(3,797)

(0.20)
(0.20)

18,755
18,755

Rightside Group, Ltd.
Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of discount and issuance costs on debt
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation expense
Gain on gTLD application withdrawals, net
Gain on sale of assets
Other
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred registration costs
Other long-term assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Payments, deposits and returns of deposits for gTLD applications
Proceeds from gTLD withdrawals
Proceeds from repayment of note receivable
Proceeds from sales of assets
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Principal payments on debt
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Minimum tax withholding on restricted stock awards
Net cash used in financing activities
Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

$

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2015

(7,578)

$

(3,797)

8,249
899
(443)
3,096
(1,113)
(1,105)
13

8,080
937
(1,671)
3,137
(6,961)
—
(140)

(1,382)
1,269
(3,079)
49
1,038
(4,899)
5,405
419

(858)
(690)
(4,953)
(470)
672
1,343
8,211
2,840

(1,758)
(406)
3,119
1,250
750
1,105
187
4,247

(2,761)
(972)
(10,018)
7,160
1,500
—
194
(4,897)

(503)
(750)
4
(703)
(1,952 )
2,714
45,095
47,809

—
(750)
46
(572)
(1,276 )
(3,333)
49,743
46,410

1,484
78

$

$

1,519
41

Rightside Group, Ltd.
Notes to Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Company Background and Basis of Presentation
Description of Business
Rightside Group, Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, “Rightside,” the “Company,” “our,” “we,” or “us”) provides domain name registration and related
value‑added service subscriptions to third parties. We are also an accredited registry for new generic Top Level Domains (“gTLDs”) made available by the
expansion of new gTLDs (the “New gTLD Program”) by the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (“ICANN”).
Basis of Presentation
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”).
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. We will refer to our consolidated financial statements as “financial
statements,” “balance sheets,” “statements of operations and comprehensive loss,” and “statements of cash flows” herein.
We had no significant components of other comprehensive income (loss) during any of the periods presented, as such, a separate consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (loss) is not presented. In addition, we had no significant changes in equity, as such, a consolidated statement of stockholders’
equity is not presented.
Interim Financial Statements
We have prepared the unaudited interim financial statements on the same basis as the audited financial statements and have included all adjustments,
consisting of normal recurring adjustments and accruals, necessary for the fair presentation of our financial statements. The results for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full year.
The unaudited interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. They do not include all of the information and footnotes
required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The year-end balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all
disclosures required by GAAP. Therefore, these financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements and notes thereto included
in our Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 11, 2016.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts previously presented for prior periods have been reclassified to conform to current presentation. These reclassifications did not affect
consolidated net income, cash flows, or equity for the years presented.
We reclassified $1.6 million of other assets, representing debt issue costs, to noncurrent debt on our balance sheets as of December 31, 2015, in
accordance with our retrospective adoption of the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03. We also
reclassified $0.7 million of prepaid expenses and other current assets to the current portion of deferred revenue on our balance sheets as of December 31, 2015.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting Pronouncements
Refer to our audited financial statements included in our Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on March 11, 2016, for a complete discussion of all
significant accounting policies.
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Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s
Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement.” The new standard provided guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement
included a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, the customer should account for the software license element of the
arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should
account for the arrangement as a service contract. The new standard did not change a customer’s accounting for service contracts. We adopted ASU 2015-05
prospectively on January 1, 2016 with no material impact on our financial statements.
In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, “Interest – Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance
Costs.” The new standard required that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the
carrying amount of the related debt liability instead of as an asset, consistent with debt discounts. Debt disclosures include the face amount of the debt liability and
the effective interest rate. We adopted this standard retrospectively on January 1, 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we reclassified $1.6 million of debt issuance
costs from an other asset to a direct reduction of the carrying amount of debt liability on our balance sheets. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-15,
“Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements.” The new standard clarified the SEC staff’s
position on debt issuance costs in connection with line of credit arrangements from ASU 2015-03. The SEC staff would not object to presenting debt issuance costs
as an asset if they were incurred before a debt liability is recognized or if they were associated with revolving debt arrangements. We adopted this standard on
January 1, 2016. As of December 31, 2015, we ha d $0.3 million of debt issuance costs that remained classified as an other asset on our balance sheets because it is
related to our line of credit agreement .
In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01, “ Income Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20): Simplifying Income
Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items. ” The new standard eliminates the GAAP concept of extraordinary items. It instead
requires transactions that are unusual, infrequent or both to be presented as a separate component of income from continuing operations or, alternatively, disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. We adopted ASU 2015-01 prospectively on January 1, 2016. See Note 4 – gTLD Deposits for further information.
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “ Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments .” The new standard replaces the current incurred loss impairment methodology with one that reflects expected credit losses and utilizes a broader
range of information to make credit loss estimates. The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 with
early adoption permitted. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2016-13 to have a significant impact on our financial statements.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based
Payment Accounting,” which is intended to simplify several aspects of share-based payment accounting. The new standard requires entities to recognize income tax
effects of share-based payments at settlement through the income statement. The new standard allows entities to withhold up to the employee’s maximum
individual statutory tax rate without classifying the awards as a liability, and allows entities to make a policy election to recognize forfeitures when they occur. It
also affects the classification in the statements of cash flows. The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2016 with early adoption permitted. We are assessing the impact of ASU 2016-09 on our financial statements, and have not determined the timing or impact of the
adoption.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842),” which increases transparency and comparability for lease transactions. The
new standard brings substantially all leases on the balance sheets for operating lease arrangements with lease terms greater than 12 months for lessees. This
standard will require a modified retrospective application, which includes a number of optional practical expedients related to the
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identif ication and classification of leases commenced before the effective date. The new standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted. We are assessing the impact of ASU 2016-02 on our financial statements, and have not determined the
timing or impact of the adoption.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014‑09, “ Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606 ).” ASU 2014-09 provides new criteria for
recognizing revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. It also requires expanded disclosures to provide greater insight into both revenue that has been recognized and revenue that is
expected to be recognized in the future from existing contracts. Quantitative and qualitative information will be provided about the significant judgments and
changes in those judgments that management made to determine the revenue that is recorded. ASU 2014-09 was set to be effective for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, “ Deferral of the Effective Date,” which changed the effective date to interim
and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted as of the original effective date. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 201608, “ Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) ,” which clarifies the implementation guidance on determining the proper unit
of account and applying the control principle. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “ Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing ,” which
clarifies the implementation guidance on identifying when a performance obligation has been satisfied and determining how to recognize revenue when an entity
grants a license to use or access its intellectual property. In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, “ Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients,”
which aims to reduce the risk of diversity in practice for certain aspects of Topic 606, including collectibility, noncash consideration, presentation of sales tax, and
transition. The new standard may be applied retrospectively to each prior period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment recognized as of the date of
adoption. We do not intend to adopt the standard early and are currently assessing the provisions of the new standard. We have not determined the transition
method or impact of the adoption on our financial statements.
3. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2016
Gross
carrying
amount

Owned website names
Customer relationships
Technology
Non-compete agreements
Trade names
gTLDs
Total

$

$

December 31, 2015

Accumulated
amortization

14,273
20,842
7,953
207
5,466
54,348
103,089

$

$

(11,473)
(20,152)
(7,943)
(143)
(2,624)
(8,383)
(50,718)

Gross
carrying
amount

Net

$

$

2,800
690
10
64
2,842
45,965
52,371

$

$

14,977
20,842
7,953
207
5,466
51,988
101,433

Accumulated
amortization

$

$

(11,628) $
(19,515)
(7,934)
(122)
(2,465)
(5,441)
(47,105) $

Net

3,349
1,327
19
85
3,001
46,547
54,328

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $2.5 million for both of the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $4.8 million
for both of the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Estimated future amortization expense related to intangible assets held as of June 30, 2016 (in thousands) :
Years Ending December 31,

Amount

2016 (July 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016)
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter
Total

$

4,240
6,808
6,630
6,321
6,078
22,294
52,371

$

4. gTLD Deposits
As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our gTLD deposits were $2.5 million and $8.1 million, respectively. During the six months ended June
30, 2016, we received $3.1 million related to the settlement of certain gTLD applications under the New gTLD Program. Payments and deposits for gTLD
applications represent amounts paid directly to ICANN or third parties in the pursuit of gTLD operator rights, the majority of which was paid to Donuts Inc. These
deposits would be applied to the purchase of the gTLD if we are awarded the gTLD operator rights or these deposits may be returned to us if we withdraw our
interest in the gTLD application. Gains on the sale of our interest in gTLDs applications are recognized when realized, while losses are recognized when deemed
probable.
The withdrawal of our interest in certain gTLD applications resulted in a net gain of $1.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, and the
settlement of our interest in certain gTLD applications resulted in a net loss of $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015. The withdrawal of our
interest in certain gTLD applications resulted in a net gain of $1.1 million and a net gain of $7.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. We recorded these gains and losses in (gain) loss on other assets, net, on the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
In April 2016, we sold the majority of our non-core registrar credentials. Registrars are required to be accredited by ICANN in order to register domain
names. The registrar credentials that were sold were mainly used to increase our ability to register newly deleted domain names the instant they became available.
They were part of a business on which we are no longer focusing. Instead, we continue to focus on utilizing alternative channels to obtain domain names for our
Aftermarket business. The sale of these credentials resulted in a net gain of $1.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016. We recorded this gain in
(gain) loss on other assets, net, on the statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
5. Other Balance Sheet Items
Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2016

Prepaid expenses
Prepaid registry fees
Note receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

$

December 31,
2015

3,204
2,000
10
5,214

$

$

3,167
3,306
760
7,233

Namecheap Senior Unsecured Promissory Note Receivable
In October 2014, we entered into an agreement with Namecheap, Inc. (“Namecheap”), whereby Namecheap issued a Senior Unsecured Promissory
Note (“Note receivable”) to us for $2.5 million. In January 2016, we entered into Amendment No. 4 of Senior Unsecured Promissory Note, which extended the
maturity date of the Note receivable to June 30, 2016. As of December 31, 2015, the outstanding balance on the Note receivable was
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$750,000. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, Namecheap made four principal payments totaling $750,000. There was no ba lance that remained
outstanding on the Note receivable as of June 30, 2016.
6. Debt
Silicon Valley Bank Credit Facility
In March 2016, we entered into Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement (“Amendment”) with Silicon Valley Bank. The Amendment revises the terms
of our existing Credit Agreement (“SVB Credit Facility”). The Amendment revises the financial condition covenants, including the consolidated net leverage ratio,
minimum liquidity ratio, and minimum consolidated EBITDA. The Amendment removes the consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, consolidated senior leverage
ratio and minimum liquidity. Additionally, the Amendment approves a one-time distribution of $10.0 million for the partial prepayment of our term loan with
Tennenbaum Capital Partners LLC. As of June 30, 2016, we were in compliance with all covenants.
7. Commitments and Contingencies
From time to time, we are party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of our business. There is no pending or threatened legal
proceeding to which we are a party that, in our belief, could have a material adverse effect on our future financial results.
8. Income Taxes
Our effective tax rate differs from the U.S. Federal statutory rate primarily as a result of state taxes, non-deductible stock option expenses and
implementing a domestic valuation allowance. The effective tax rate was 2.9% and 11.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and
was 5.5% and 30.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.1 million during three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $0.7 million during the same period in 2015.
The decreased benefit was primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation shortfall and the impact of implementing a valuation allowance on projected
excess deferred tax assets in the current period.
We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.4 million during the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $1.7 million during the same period in
2015. The decreased benefit was primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation shortfall and the impact of implementing a valuation allowance on
projected excess deferred tax assets in the current period.
We currently have a net deferred tax liability related to our U.S. activities. However, projected future growth in our deferred tax assets indicates that
we will have net deferred tax assets in the U.S. by the end of the current year, which will require a valuation allowance as it is more likely than not that those net
deferred tax assets will not be realized. When calculating the annual effective income tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we have included
the anticipated valuation allowance in the effective tax rate to ensure that the tax benefit recorded on the year-to-date losses would not exceed the amount expected
to be generated during the current year.
We are subject to the accounting guidance for uncertain income tax positions. We believe that our income tax positions and deductions will be
sustained on audit and do not anticipate any adjustments that will result in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Our policy for recording interest and penalties associated with audits and uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of income tax
expense, and amounts recognized to date are insignificant. No uncertain income tax positions were recorded during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 or
2015, and we do not expect our uncertain tax position to change materially during the next 12 months. We file a U.S. federal tax
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return as well as tax returns in many states and multiple foreign jurisdictions. All tax years since our incorporation remain subject to examination by the Internal
Revenue Service and various state authorities.
9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
We measure our financial assets and liabilities in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of
the assumptions used to determine fair value.
·

Level 1—valuations for assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, or interest in open‑end mutual funds that allow a company to
sell its ownership interest back at net asset value on a daily basis. Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources for market
transactions involving identical assets, liabilities or funds.

·

Level 2—valuations for assets and liabilities traded in less active dealer, or broker markets, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities
or quoted prices in markets that are not active. Level 2 includes U.S. Treasury, U.S. government and agency debt securities, and certain corporate
obligations. Valuations are usually obtained from third-party pricing services for identical or comparable assets or liabilities.

·

Level 3—valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived from other valuation methodologies, such as option pricing models, discounted cash
flow models and similar techniques, and not based on market exchange, dealer, or broker traded transactions. Level 3 valuations incorporate
certain assumptions and projections in determining the fair value assigned to such assets or liabilities.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurements. In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs to
the extent possible and consider counterparty credit risk in our assessment of fair value. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurements requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of the assets and liabilities being measured and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.
Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value in our financial statements, but for which the fair value is disclosed, are summarized below (in
thousands):
Carrying
Value

As of June 30, 2016

Assets:
Note receivable
Liabilities:
Debt

Fair Value Measurement Using
Level 2
Level 3

Total
Fair Value

$

10

$

—

$

—

$

10

$

10

$

23,251

$

—

$

—

$

30,324

$

30,324

Carrying
Value

As of December 31, 2015

Assets:
Note receivable
Liabilities:
Debt

Level 1

Level 1

Fair Value Measurement Using
Level 2
Level 3

Total
Fair Value

$

760

$

—

$

—

$

760

$

760

$

23,201

$

—

$

—

$

31,489

$

31,489

Our note receivable is short-term in nature and its carrying value approximates fair value. This is classified as a Level 3 measurement.
The fair value of our debt is estimated based on the discounted cash flow approach, using the current cost of debt available to us with similar loan
terms and remaining maturities. As of June 30, 2016, the current cost of debt available to us was 6%. Because these estimates utilize significant unobservable
inputs, we classify our debt as a Level 3 measurement.
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The current cost of debt is considered a significant unobservable input used in the fair value measurement of our debt. This significant unobservable
input would have a direct imp act on the fair value of our debt if it were adjusted. Consequently, significant increases or decreases in the cost of debt would result
in a significantly higher or lower fair value. At June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, a hypothetical 10% increase or d ecrease in the cost of debt would change
the fair value of our debt, classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy, by $0.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
The following table presents a reconciliation of our debt measured at fair value using unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2015
Principal and interest payments on debt
Change in fair value of future payments on debt
Balance as of June 30, 2016

$

31,489
(2,036)
871
30,324

$

The following table presents a reconciliation of our note receivable measured at fair value using unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2015
Repayments on note receivable
Balance as of June 30, 2016

$

760
(750)
10

$

10. Business Segments
We follow the authoritative literature that established annual and interim reporting standards for an entity’s operating segments and related disclosures
about its products and services, geographic regions and major customers. We operate in one operating segment. Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
manages our operations on a global basis for purposes of evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. The CODM reviews separate revenue
information for our Registrar services, Registry services, and Aftermarket and other services. All other financial information is reviewed by the CODM on a global
basis. Our operations are located in the United States, Ireland, Canada, Australia and Cayman Islands.
Revenue derived from our Registrar services, Registry services, and Aftermarket and other offerings are as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Registrar services
Registry services
Aftermarket and other
Eliminations
Total revenue

$

$

44,157
2,932
7,839
(891)
54,037

$

$

43,281
1,925
7,544
(579)
52,171

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

$

88,175
5,571
17,108
(1,693)
109,161

$

$

Amounts in the eliminations line reflect the elimination of intercompany charges between our Registrar and Registry services businesses.
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85,280
3,530
14,876
(984)
102,702

Revenue by geographic lo cation is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

United States
International
Total

$
$

39,294
14,743
54,037

$
$

37,828
14,343
52,171

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$
$

79,723
29,438
109,161

$
$

74,440
28,262
102,702

No international country represented more than 10% of total revenue in any period presented.
11. Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted loss per share were calculated using the following (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Net loss
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Basic
Diluted

$

(2,471)

$

19,247
19,247
$

(0.13)
(0.13)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

(5,673)

$

18,805
18,805
$

(0.30)
(0.30)

(7,578)

$

19,197
19,197
$

(0.39)
(0.39)

(3,797)
18,755
18,755

$

(0.20)
(0.20)

For the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, we excluded approximately 224 thousand and 79 thousand shares, respectively, of restricted stock
units and stock options from the calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding as their inclusion would have been antidilutive. For the six months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, we excluded approximately 169 thousand and 36 thousand shares, respectively, of restricted stock units and stock options from the
calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding as their inclusion would have been antidilutive. The $15.05 exercise price per share on the stock
warrants related to the Tennenbaum Credit Facility did not have a dilutive effect for any period presented.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements are identified by words such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “may,” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to:
·

our future operating results, including our expectations regarding total revenue, operating margins and net loss;

·

trends in sales, marketing, technology, development and general and administrative expenses as a percentage of our revenue;

·

our ability to develop, maintain and grow significant market share for our gTLDs in a competitive environment;

·

our ability to attract new wholesale and retail customers and to retain existing customers;

·

the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business, including our ability to improve margin structure through pricing
optimization and cost reduction initiatives ;

·

our expectations regarding the level of consumer demand for new generic Top Level Domains (“gTLDs”) and our ability to capitalize on this
demand;

·

legal, regulatory, accounting and tax developments, including additional requirements imposed by changes in federal, state or foreign laws and
regulations;

·

our strategic relationships, including with the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (“ICANN”);

·

our ability to enter into and maintain agreements on favorable terms with commercial partners, including with registry operators, service
providers and distributors;

·

our ability to effectively manage our growth;

·

our ability to enhance our existing products and services and introduce new products and services;

·

our ability to evaluate and respond to unsolicited proposals to acquire certain of our assets;

·

our ability to adequately protect our intellectual property rights;

·

our ability to timely and effectively maintain, scale and adapt our existing technology and network infrastructure and security ;

·

our ability to retain key personnel, attract qualified officers and directors and hire key personnel ; and

·

the impact of actions by stockholder activists .

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as guarantees of future performance. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on
our estimates of our financial results and our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our financial
condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking
statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in the section entitled “Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Moreover, we
operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor
can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially
from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and
circumstances discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from
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those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements for any reason after
the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, except as required by law .
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and have filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity, performance, and events and
circumstances may be materially different from what we expect.
As used in this report, “Rightside,” the “Company,” “our,” “we,” or “us” and similar terms include Rightside Group, Ltd. and its subsidiaries, unless
the context indicates otherwise. “Rightside” and our other trademarks appearing in this report are our property. This report contains additional tradenames and
trademarks of other companies. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names or trademarks to imply an endorsement or sponsorship of us
by such companies, or any relationship with any of these companies.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report. Throughout this discussion and analysis, where we provide discussion of the
three and six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the same periods in 2015, we refer to the prior periods as “2015.”
Overview
We are a leading provider of domain name services that enable businesses and consumers to find, establish, and maintain their digital address—the
starting point for connecting with their online audience. Millions of digital destinations and thousands of resellers rely upon our comprehensive platform for the
discovery, registration, usage and monetization of domain names. As a result, we are a leader in the multi‑billion dollar domain name services industry, with a
complete suite of services that our customers use as the foundation to build their entire online presence.
We are one of the world’s largest registrars, offering domain name registration and other related services to resellers and directly to domain name
registrants. Through our eNom brand, we provide infrastructure services that enable a network of approximately 28,000 active resellers to offer domain name
registration services to their customers. Further, through our retail brands, including Name.com, we directly offer domain name registration services to more than
335,000 customers. As of June 30, 2016, we had approximately 16.6 million domain names under management. In addition to domain name registration and related
services, we have developed proprietary tools and services that identify and acquire, as well as monetize and sell, domain names, both for our own portfolio of
domain names as well as for our customers’ domain names.
We are a leading domain name registry with a portfolio of 40 gTLDs acquired from ICANN’s New gTLD Program. To date, we have launched 39 of
our gTLDs into the market, including .NEWS, .ROCKS and .LIVE. In May 2016, we acquired the exclusive registry operator rights to .GAMES, which we plan to
launch in the third quarter of 2016. Our registry services business continues to build a diverse distribution network of over 125 ICANN accredited registrars,
including eNom, Name.com and GoDaddy, as well as other complementary distribution partners such as website builders and email service providers, that offer our
gTLD domain names to businesses and consumers. Furthermore, our distribution network includes registrars and other partners in international markets,
positioning our company to capture additional sales on a global scale. In addition to operating our own registry, we provide technical back-end infrastructure
services to Donuts Inc. (“Donuts”), a third-party operator of new gTLDs (collectively with the New gTLD Program, our “gTLD Initiative”).
The combination of our registrar and registry services businesses makes us one of the largest providers of end-to-end domain name services in the
world. This uniquely positions us to capitalize on the New gTLD Program because we can distribute owned and third-party gTLDs through our retail registrar
brands, our eNom reseller network and our third-party registrar distribution channel.
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We generate the majority of our revenue through domain name registration subscriptions, including registrations of domain names for our owned
gTLDs, and related value-added services. We also generate revenue from advertising on, and from the sale of, domain names that are registered to our customers or
ourselves. Our business model is characterized by non-refundable, up-front payments, which lead to re curring revenue and positive operating cash flows.
Second Quarter Highlights
Below are our key highlights as of and for the three months ended June 30, 2016. All comparisons are relative to the fiscal second quarter 2015.
·

Total revenue increased to $54.0 million from $52.2 million.

·

Registry services revenue increased 52% to $2.9 million from $1.9 million.

·

Net loss was $2.5 million compared to net loss of $5.7 million.

·

Adjusted earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”), a non-GAAP financial measure, was $2.3
million compared to $0.8 million.

·

Cash and cash equivalents were $47.8 million.

·

Gain (loss) on other assets, net was $2.2 million representing the gain on withdrawals of our interest in gTLD applications and the sale of our
non-core registrar credentials.

Opportunities, Challenges and Risks
The majority of our revenue is derived from domain name registrations and related value‑added service subscriptions from our wholesale and retail
customers of our registrar platform. Growth in our revenue is dependent upon our ability to attract wholesale and retail customers to our registrar platform, to
sustain those recurring revenue relationships by maintaining consistent domain name registration and value‑added service renewal rates and to grow those
relationships through competitive pricing on domain name registrations, differentiated value‑added services, customer service offerings, and best‑in‑class reseller
integration tools. Over the past few years our revenue growth has been driven by the addition of reseller customers with large volumes of domain names as well as
strong growth in Name.com, our leading retail registrar. Certain of these large customers account for a significant portion of our revenue, and from time to time, we
enter into multi‑year agreements with those customers. For example, our top three customers accounted for 27% and 29% of our consolidated revenue for the three
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and 28% and 27% of our consolidated revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
We also generate advertising revenue through our monetization platform for websites or domain names that we or our customers own. Going forward, we expect
the revenue associated with these websites to remain relatively flat with low traffic and advertising yields in the marketplace.
We began generating cash sales as the exclusive registry operator for our portfolio of new gTLDs in the first quarter of 2014. We have had steady
growth in our Registry services revenue since launch. For the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, our revenue from our Registry services was $2.9 million
and $1.9 million, respectively, and $5.6 million and $3.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
We received returns of deposits of $3.1 million and we made payments and deposits of $10.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, for gTLD applications under the New gTLD Program. These payments and deposits represent amounts paid directly to ICANN and third parties in the
pursuit of certain exclusive gTLD operator rights. We capitalize payments made for gTLD applications and other acquisition related costs, and include them in
other long‑term assets and intangible assets on the balance sheets. As part of the New gTLD Program, we have received partial cash refunds for certain gTLD
applications and to the extent we elect to sell or withdraw certain gTLD applications throughout the process, we will continue to incur gains or losses on amounts
invested. Gains on the sale of our interest in gTLDs applications are recognized when realized, while losses are recognized when deemed probable. Upon the
delegation of operator rights for each gTLD by ICANN, gTLD application fees and other acquisition-related costs are reclassified as finite‑lived intangible assets
and amortized on
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a straight ‑line basis over their estimated useful life. We expense as incurred other costs incurred as part of this gTLD Initiative and not directly attributable to the
acquisition of gTLD operator rights.
Our cost of revenue, which is the largest component of our operating expenses, can vary from period to period, particularly as a percentage of revenue.
With the recent revenue growth coming from the sales of our higher margin registry business, our cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue has decreased for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015.
Our marketing expense has grown in recent years as we have promoted our Name.com retail registrar and the New gTLD Program. Marketing activity
primarily flows through our sales and marketing expense line item. Although to the extent that our registry offers performance incentive rebates or other business
incentives to our partners, those incentives are recognized as a reduction to revenue.
Over the long term, we expect our overall operating margins to increase as the registry services business becomes a larger contributor to our overall
revenue mix. In addition, we are driving initiatives in the area of price optimization and other operating cost reduction programs that we believe will further expand
our direct profit in the registrar services business.
Registrar Services Operating Metrics
We review a number of business metrics, including the following key metrics, to evaluate our Registrar services business, measure the performance of
our business model, identify trends impacting our business, determine resource allocations, formulate financial projections and make strategic business decisions.
We believe the following measures are the primary indicators of our performance:
·

Registrar services domain: We define a registrar services domain as an individual domain name registered by a third-party customer on
Rightside’s registrar platforms for which Rightside has begun to recognize revenue.

·

Average revenue per domain (“ARPD”): We calculate ARPD by dividing registrar services revenue for a period by the average number of
domains registered on Rightside’s registrar platforms in that period. ARPD for partial year periods is annualized.

·

Renewal rate: We define the renewal rate as the percentage of domain names on our registrar platform that are renewed after their original
term expires.

The following table sets forth performance highlights of key business metrics for our Registrar services for the periods presented (in millions, except
for per domain and percentage data):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

End of period registrar services domains
Average revenue per domain
Renewal rate

$

16.3
10.82
$
73.3 %

16.3
10.66
74.1 %

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Change

0.0 %
1.5 %

$

16.3
10.84
$
75.3 %

16.3
10.58
75.8 %

Change

0.0 %
2.5 %

Average Revenue per Domain
The average revenue per domain for the three months ended June 30, 2016 increased 1.5% to $10.82 from $10.66 in 2015. The average revenue per
domain for the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased 2.5% to $10.84 from $10.58 in 2015. The increase was due to an increasing mix of higher margin new
gTLDs, which have an average selling price approximately three times that of legacy gTLDs.
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Renewal Rate
The renewal rate for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was 73.3% compared to 74.1% in 2015. The decrease was primarily due to consolidation in
the industry which drove transfers out of a few large portfolios with historically high renewal rates. The renewal rate for the six months ended June 30, 2016 has
remained relatively flat compared to 2015.
Components of Results of Operations
Revenue
Our revenue is principally comprised of registration fees charged to businesses and consumers in connection with new, renewed and transferred
domain name registrations, including registrations of domain names for our own gTLDs. In addition, our registrar also generates revenue from the sale of other
value‑added services that are designed to help our customers easily build, enhance and protect their domain names, including security services, email accounts and
web hosting, and the performance of services for registries. Finally, we generate advertising and domain name sales revenue as part of our aftermarket service
offering. We generate this aftermarket revenue on domain names that we own, as well as by providing these services to third parties. Our revenue varies based upon
the number of domain names registered or utilizing our aftermarket service offerings, the rates we charge our customers, our ability to sell value‑added services,
our ability to sell domain names from our portfolio, and the monetization we are able to achieve through our aftermarket service offerings. Performance incentive
rebates and certain other business incentives are recognized as a reduction in revenue. We primarily market our wholesale registration services under our eNom
brand, and our retail registration services under our Name.com brand.
Our revenue also includes registration fees from our portfolio of 39 gTLDs in general availability for which we are the exclusive registry operator, as
part of the gTLD Initiative. The amount as well as the timing of revenue is uncertain and is dependent upon the demand and level of user adoption of new gTLDs,
the timing and number of our back‑end registry customers’ launches of gTLDs, and the continued progress of the New gTLD Program. To the extent that our
registry offers performance incentive rebates or certain other business incentives to our partners, those incentives are recognized as a reduction to revenue.
Costs and Expenses
Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of direct costs we incur with selling an incremental product to our customers. Substantially all cost of revenue
relates to domain name registration costs, payment processing fees, third-party commissions and customer care. Similar to our billing practices, we pay domain
costs at the time of purchase, but recognize the costs of service ratably over the life of the registration. Customer care expense represents the costs to consult, advise
and service our customers’ needs. Customer care expenses primarily consist of personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation expense) and are
expensed as incurred. We expect cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we expand our registrar services business and our total
customers. Domain name costs include fees paid to the various domain registries and ICANN. We prepay these costs in advance for the life of the registration. The
terms of registry pricing are established by an agreement between registries and registrars. Cost of revenue may increase or decrease as a percentage of total
revenue, depending on the mix of products sold in a particular period and the sales and marketing channels used.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing consists primarily of sales and marketing personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation expense), sales support,
advertising, marketing and general promotional expenditures. We anticipate that our sales and marketing expenses will increase in the near term as a percent of
revenue as we continue to support our sales efforts and invest in the growth of our business including our gTLD Initiative.
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Technology and Development
Technology and development consists primarily of costs associated with creation, development and distribution of our products and websites. These
expenses primarily consist of personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation expense) associated with the design, development, deployment, testing,
operation and enhancement of our products, as well as costs associated with the data centers and systems infrastructure supporting those products. Technology and
development expenses may increase or decrease as a percentage of total revenue depending on our level of investment in future headcount and global infrastructure
footprint. We anticipate that our technology and development expense will increase slightly in the near term as a percentage of revenue as we continue to invest in
certain areas of our business.
General and Administrative
General and administrative consists primarily of personnel-related costs (including stock-based compensation expense) from our executive, legal,
finance, human resources and information technology organizations and facilities‑related expenditures, as well as third-party professional fees, and insurance
expenses. Professional fees are largely comprised of outside legal, audit and information technology consulting. In the near term, we expect our general and
administrative expenses to remain level as a percentage of revenue as we support the growth of our business, but in the long term, we anticipate our general and
administrative expenses will decline as a percentage of revenue.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation expense consists of charges relating to the depreciation of the property and equipment used in our business. Depreciation expense may
increase or decrease in absolute dollars in future periods depending on the future level of capital investments in hardware and other equipment. We expect the
depreciation of property and equipment to remain relatively flat in the near term.
Amortization expense consists of charges relating to the amortization of capitalized identifiable intangible assets from the acquisition of domain
names, including initial registration costs, as well as costs to acquire gTLDs, and intangible assets acquired in connection with business combinations. We amortize
these costs on a straight‑line basis over the related expected useful lives of these assets. We determine the appropriate useful life of intangible assets by performing
an analysis of expected cash flows based on its historical experience of intangible assets of similar quality and value. We capitalize gTLD assets once they become
available for their intended use and amortize them on a straight‑line basis over the remaining contractual period of the registry operator agreement, which is
approximately 10 years. We expect the amortization of intangible assets to remain relatively flat in the near term.
(Gain) Loss on Other Assets, Net
(Gain) loss on other assets, net consists of gains and losses on withdrawals or settlement of costs related to our interest in certain gTLD applications, as
well as other sales of assets. We expect our gains and losses will vary depending upon potential gains or losses resulting from our resolution of gTLD applications
for which there were multiple bidders.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense on our credit facilities. Interest expense includes amortization of deferred financing costs and
debt discount.
Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net, consists primarily of transaction gains and losses on foreign currency‑denominated assets and liabilities, and interest
income.
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Income Tax Benefit
We are subject to income taxes principally in the United States, and certain other countries where we have a legal presence, including Ireland, Canada,
Australia and Cayman Islands. We anticipate that as we expand our operations outside the United States, we will become subject to taxation based on foreign
statutory rates, and our effective tax rate could fluctuate accordingly.
Income taxes are computed using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to affect
taxable income. We recognize the effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates on income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Basis of Presentation
Please refer to Note 1—Company Background and Basis of Presentation within the accompanying unaudited interim financial statements for
information on our basis of presentation.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses,
and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, there were no significant changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates. Please refer
to the critical accounting policies and estimates as described in the financial statements contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015, filed with the SEC on March 11, 2016.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Please refer to Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Accounting Pronouncements within the accompanying unaudited interim
financial statements for information on our recently adopted accounting guidance and accounting guidance not yet adopted.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented (in thousands). The period‑to‑period comparison of financial results is
not necessarily indicative of future results.
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Revenue
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization)
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on other assets, net
Interest expense
Other income, net
Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit
Net loss

$

$

54,037
40,695
2,706
4,741
5,280
4,203
(2,219)
1,218
(41)
(2,546)
(75)
(2,471)

$

$

52,171
40,330
2,533
5,267
4,904
4,094
262
1,226
(44)
(6,401)
(728)
(5,673)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

$

109,161
82,615
5,344
10,625
10,204
8,249
(2,218)
2,453
(90)
(8,021)
(443)
(7,578)

$

$

102,702
79,287
5,027
10,382
9,887
8,080
(6,961)
2,470
(2)
(5,468)
(1,671)
(3,797)

The following table presents our stock‑based compensation expense included in the above line items (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

$

63
182
365
1,048
1,658

$

$

136
219
278
965
1,598

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

$

116
355
691
1,934
3,096

$

$

252
401
553
1,931
3,137

The following table presents our depreciation and amortization by expense classification (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total depreciation and amortization

$

$
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2,057
320
987
839
4,203

$

$

2,039
326
1,226
503
4,094

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

$

3,927
640
2,008
1,674
8,249

$

$

3,921
653
2,437
1,069
8,080

Revenue
Revenue by service line was as follows (in thousands, except percentage data):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Registrar services
Registry services
Aftermarket and other
Eliminations
Total revenue

$

$

44,157 $
2,932
7,839
(891)
54,037 $

43,281
1,925
7,544
(579)
52,171

Change

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

2 % $ 88,175 $ 85,280
52
5,571
3,530
4
17,108
14,876
54
(1,693)
(984)
4 % $ 109,161 $ 102,702

Change

3 %
58
15
72
6 %

Amounts in the Eliminations line reflect the elimination of intercompany charges between our Registrar and Registry services businesses.
Registrar Services
Registrar services revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.9 million, or 2%, to $44.2 million compared to $43.3 million in
2015. The increase was primarily driven by a higher number of registrations and related services of $0.8 million, along with sales of higher priced domain names of
$0.1 million. Of the total registrar services revenue increase, $1.0 million was in revenue generated from registrations of new gTLD domain names, partially offset
by a $0.1 million decline in revenue generated from legacy gTLD domain names.
Registrar services revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $2.9 million, or 3%, to $88.2 million compared to $85.3 million in
2015. The increase was primarily due to growth in our retail and wholesale channels, driven by a higher number of registrations and related services of $2.1
million, as well as the sale of higher priced domain names of $0.8 million. Of the total registrar services revenue increase, $1.9 million was in revenue generated
from registrations of new gTLD domain names and $1.0 million was in revenue generated from legacy gTLD domain names.
Registry Services
Registry services revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $1.0 million, or 52%, to $2.9 million from $1.9 million in 2015.
Registry services revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $2.0 million, or 58%, to $5.6 million from $3.5 million in 2015. The growth was
primarily driven by new gTLD registrations which have an average selling price of approximately three times that of legacy gTLDs. As of June 30, 2016, our
registry services end of period domains increased 70% to 523,000 from 308,000 as of June 30, 2015.
Aftermarket and Other
Aftermarket and other revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.3 million, or 4%, to $7.8 million compared to $7.5 million in
2015. The increase is primarily due to an increase in our domain sales revenue of $0.5 million, partially offset by a decrease in our domain name monetization
revenue of $0.2 million.
Aftermarket and other revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $2.2 million, or 15%, to $17.1 million compared to $14.9 million
in 2015. The increase is primarily due to an increase in our domain name monetization revenue of $1.3 million from an increase in traffic on websites by third party
advertising partners, as well as an increase in our domain sales revenue of $0.9 million.
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Cost and Expenses
Costs and expenses were as follows (in thousands, except percentage data):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and
amortization)
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on other assets, net
Interest expense
Other income, net
Income tax benefit

$

40,695 $
2,706
4,741
5,280
4,203
(2,219)
1,218
(41)
(75)

40,330
2,533
5,267
4,904
4,094
262
1,226
(44)
(728)

Change

1 % $
7
(10)
8
3
(947)
(1)
(7)
(90)

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

82,615
5,344
10,625
10,204
8,249
(2,218)
2,453
(90)
(443)

$

79,287
5,027
10,382
9,887
8,080
(6,961)
2,470
(2)
(1,671)

Change

4 %
6
2
3
2
(68)
(1)
4,400
(73)

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.4 million, or 1%, to $40.7 million compared to $40.3 million in 2015. The
increase was primarily due to $0.6 million in domain name registration fees associated with our growth in registered domain names and related revenue, partially
offset by a decrease of $0.1 million in revenue sharing costs paid to our domain name monetization customers.
Cost of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $3.3 million, or 4%, to $82.6 million compared to $79.3 million in 2015. The
increase was primarily due to $1.9 million in domain name registration fees associated with our growth in registered domain names and related revenue and $1.5
million in revenue sharing costs paid to our domain name monetization customers.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.2 million, or 7%, to $2.7 million compared to $2.5 million in
2015. The increase was primarily due to a $0.2 million increase in personnel-related costs and commission expense as we drive awareness and demand for new
gTLDs.
Sales and marketing expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.3 million, or 6%, to $5.3 million compared to $5.0 million in
2015. The increase was primarily due to a $0.3 million increase in personnel-related costs and a $0.2 million increase in commission expense, partially offset by a
$0.2 million decrease in other marketing expenses.
Technology and Development
Technology and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016, decreased by $0.6 million, or 10%, to $4.7 million compared to $5.3
million in 2015. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of $0.4 million in infrastructure and technology costs to support our service platforms and a decrease
of $0.2 million in personnel-related costs.
Technology and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.2 million, or 2%, to $10.6 million compared to $10.4
million in 2015. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.5 million in personnel-related costs, inclusive of $0.4 million in one-time severance payments,
and an increase of $0.1 million in stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by a decrease of $0.4 million in infrastructure and technology costs to support
our service platforms.
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General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.4 million, or 8%, to $5.3 million compared to $4.9
million in 2015. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.2 million in stock-based compensation expense and personnel-related costs, as well as a $0.2
million increase in legal and tax fees.
General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2016, increased by $0.3 million, or 3%, to $10.2 million compared to $9.9
million in 2015. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $0.3 million in legal fees and an increase of $0.3 million infrastructure costs and facility-related
costs, partially offset by a decrease of $0.4 million in other professional services fees, such as consulting and audit services.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was $4.2 million and $4.1 million in 2015. Depreciation and
amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2016 was $8.2 million compared to $8.1 million in 2015.
(Gain) Loss on Other Assets, Net
Gain on other assets, net for the three months ended June 30, 2016 was $2.2 million compared to a net loss of $0.3 million in 2015. Gain on other
assets, net for the six months ended June 30, 2016, decreased by $4.8 million, to $2.2 million compared to $7.0 million in 2015. During the three months ended
June 30, 2016, we sold the majority of our non-core registrar credentials for a gain of $1.1 million, and we had fewer withdrawals and settlements of our interest in
certain gTLD applications resulting in a gain of $1.1 million.
Interest Expense
Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, was $1.2 million for both periods. Interest expense for the six months ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015, was $2.5 million for both periods. Interest expense consisted of interest on our credit facilities that were entered into during the third
quarter of 2014.
Other (Income) Expense, Net
Other income for the three months ended June 30, 2016, was $41,000 compared to $44,000 in 2015. Other income for the six months ended June 30,
2016, was $90,000 compared to $2,000 in 2015.
Income Tax Benefit
The effective tax rate was 2.9% and 11.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was 5.5% and 30.6% for the six
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate primarily as a result of state taxes, non-deductible stock
option expenses and implementing a domestic valuation allowance by the end of the current year. Income tax benefit was $0.1 million and $0.7 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and was $0.4 million and $1.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The
decrease in tax benefit was primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation shortfall and the impact of implementing a valuation allowance on projected
excess deferred tax assets in the current period.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
To supplement our financial results presented in GAAP, we use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, to evaluate our business. We
define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) adjusted for interest, income taxes, gain on sale of marketable securities, gain on other assets, net, depreciation and
amortization, stock-based compensation, as well as the financial impact of acquisition and realignment costs. Acquisition and realignment
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costs include legal, account ing and other professional fees directly attributable to acquisition activity as well as employee severance and other payments in
connection with corporate realignment activities.
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is helpful in understanding our financial performance and potential future results. These are not meant to be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for comparable GAAP measures and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA may differ from non-GAAP financial measures with the same or similar captions that are used by other companies and do not
reflect a comprehensive system of accounting. We use Adjusted EBITDA internally to understand, manage, and evaluate our business and make operating
decisions. In addition, we believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors because they enhance the ability of investors to compare our
results from period to period and allows for greater transparency with respect to key financial metrics we use in making operating decisions.
The following is a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

Net loss
Add (deduct):
Income tax benefit
(Gain) loss on other assets, net
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Acquisition and realignment costs
Adjusted EBITDA

$

(2,471)

$

(75)
(2,219)
1,218
4,203
1,658
—
2,314

$

(5,673)

$

(728)
262
1,226
4,094
1,598
—
779

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016
2015

$

(7,578)

$

(443)
(2,218)
2,453
8,249
3,096
564
4,123

$

(3,797)

$

(1,671)
(6,961)
2,470
8,080
3,137
89
1,347

Adjusted EBITDA increased $1.5 million, to $2.3 million in the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $0.8 million in 2015. The increase
was primarily driven by an increase in revenue of $1.8 million, offset by an increase in cost of revenue of $0.4 million, due to increased registrations from new
gTLDs in our Registry services, as well as growth in our Registrar services.
Adjusted EBITDA increased $2.8 million, to $4.1 million in the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $1.3 million in 2015. The increase was
primarily driven by an increase in revenue of $6.5 million, offset by an increase in cost of revenue of $3.3 million, due to growth in our Registrar services as well
as increased registrations from new gTLDs in our Registry services. Additionally, there was an increase of $1.0 million in personnel-related costs, which was
partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in consulting expenses.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historically, we have principally financed our operations from net cash provided by our operating activities. Our cash flows from operating activities
are significantly affected by our cash based investments in operations, including working capital, and corporate infrastructure to support our ability to generate
revenue and conduct operations through cost of revenue, technology and development, sales and marketing and general and administrative activities. Cash used in
investing activities has historically been, and is expected to be, significantly impacted by our ongoing investments in our platform, company infrastructure,
equipment and our investments in gTLD applications. Our capital expenditures and investments in gTLDs have to date been funded by cash flows from operations,
as well as proceeds from our credit facilities.
As of June 30, 2016, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents in the amount of $47.8 million and our revolving credit
facility with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”). In March 2016, we entered into Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement (“Amendment”) with SVB. The Amendment
revises the terms of our existing Credit Agreement (“SVB Credit Facility”). The Amendment revises the financial condition covenants, including the consolidated
net leverage ratio, minimum liquidity ratio, and minimum consolidated EBITDA. The
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Amendment removes the consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio, consolidated senior leverage ratio and minimum liquidity. Additi onally, the Amendment
approves a one-time distribution of $10.0 million for the partial prepayment of our term loan with Tennenbaum Capital Partners LLC (“Tennenbaum Credit
Facility”). Under the current agreement with SVB, as of June 30, 2016, we had appro ximately $19.0 million of borrowing capacity available from the SVB Credit
Facility. Additionally, we were in compliance with the covenants under both the SVB Credit Facility and the Tennenbaum Credit Facility as of June 30, 2016.
For more information, see the section entitled “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources—Credit Facilities” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K which was filed with the SEC on March 11, 2016.
We believe our capital structure is appropriate for this stage of our operations and is sufficient to grow the business while pursuing our strategic
objectives. However, we are participating in a dynamic and emerging environment, and will continuously evaluate our position relative to the opportunities
available in the marketplace. We believe that our future cash from operations, together with our ability to access sources of financing, including debt and equity,
will provide sufficient resources to fund both short term and long term operating requirements, capital expenditures, acquisitions and new business development
activities for at least the next 12 months.
Historical Cash Flow Trends
The following table sets forth our major sources and (uses) of cash for each period as set forth below (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

$

2015

419
4,247
(1,952)

$

2,840
(4,897)
(1,276)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Our primary source of cash from operating activities consists of cash collections from our customers. Our primary uses of cash from operating
activities consist of domain registration costs paid to registries, personnel-related costs, discretionary marketing and advertising costs, and technology and
development costs.
Net cash provided by operating activities was $0.4 million and $2.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The
activity that comprised our net cash provided by operating activities is described below.
Our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2016, was $7.6 million, which included a gain on the withdrawal of gTLD applications of $1.1 million,
a gain on the sale of a majority of our non-core registrar credentials of $1.1 million and non-cash charges of $11.8 million such as depreciation and amortization,
stock-based compensation expense, and deferred taxes. In addition, changes in our working capital resulted in a $1.6 million reduction in cash.
Our net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2015, was $3.8 million, which included a gain on the withdrawal of gTLD applications of $7.0 million
and non-cash charges of $10.4 million such as depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation expense, and deferred taxes. In addition, changes in our
working capital generated $3.2 million in cash.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Our investing activities primarily consist of strategic acquisitions of gTLDs, purchases of intangible assets and purchases of property and equipment to
support the overall growth in our business.
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Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities was $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $(4.9) million for the six
months ended June 30, 2015. The activity that comprised our net cash provided by (used in) investing activities is described below.
During the six months ended June 30, 2016, we received returns of deposits of $3.1 million for investments in gTLD applications in pursuit of our
ownership of certain gTLD operator rights, as well as $1.3 million for the withdrawal of our interest in certain gTLD applications. In addition, we received
proceeds of $1.1 million from the sale of the majority of our non-core registrar credentials and proceeds of $0.8 million from the repayment of a note receivable,
which were partially offset by purchases of $1.8 million of property and equipment and $0.4 million of intangible assets.
During the six months ended June 30, 2015, we made payments and deposits of $10.0 million for investments in gTLD applications in pursuit of our
ownership of certain gTLD operator rights, which was partially offset by proceeds of $7.2 million from gTLD application withdrawals. In addition, we purchased
$2.8 million property and equipment and $1.0 million of intangible assets, and we received proceeds of $1.5 million from the repayment of a note receivable.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Our financing activities primarily consist of the repayment of principal on long-term debt and restricted stock unit activity.
Net cash used in financing activities increased $0.7 million, to $2.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, from $1.3 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2015. The increase primarily includes $0.5 million in principal payments on capital lease obligations and $0.1 million in minimum tax
withholding on restricted stock awards.
Off‑‑Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2016, we were not a party to any off‑balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on
our financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.
Contractual Obligations
There were no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to any contractual obligations disclosed within “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” as contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 11, 2016.
Litigation
From time to time, we are party to various litigation matters incidental to the conduct of our business. There is no pending or threatened legal
proceeding to which we are a party that, in our belief, could have a material adverse effect on our future financial results.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include foreign exchange and concentration of credit risk.
To reduce and manage these risks, we assess the financial condition of our large registrar resellers and other large customers when we enter into or amend
agreements with them and we limit credit risk by collecting in advance when possible and setting and adjusting credit limits where we deem appropriate. In
addition, our recent investment strategy has been to invest in high credit quality financial instruments, which are highly liquid, are readily convertible into cash and
that mature within three months from the date of purchase.
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Interest Rate Risk
We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with the term loan drawn on our term loan credit facility with Tennenbaum Capital Partners LLC (the
“Tennenbaum Credit Facility”), which accrues interest at variable rates. As of June 30, 2016, our borrowings under the Tennenbaum Credit Facility had an
effective interest rate of 14.8%. Assuming the Tennenbaum Credit Facility is fully drawn and holding other variables constant, a 1% increase in interest rates,
occurring July 1, 2016, and sustained throughout the period ended December 31, 2016, would result in an increase in our annual interest expense and a decrease in
our cash flows and income before taxes of approximately $0.3 million per year.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
While relatively small, we have operations outside of the United States. We have foreign currency risks related to a relatively small percentage of our
expenses being denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally in the Euro. We do not believe movements in the foreign currencies in which we
transact will significantly affect future net earnings or losses. However, as our international operations grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates
will become greater, and we intend to continue to assess our approach to managing this risk.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
As of June 30, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents were maintained with one major U.S. financial institution and two foreign banks. We also
maintained cash balances with three internet payment processors. Deposits with these institutions at times exceed the federally insured limits, which potentially
subject us to concentration of credit risk. Historically, we have not experienced any losses related to these balances and believe that there is minimal risk of
expected future losses. However, there can be no assurance that there will not be losses on these deposits.
We are also exposed to credit risk with respect to our large registrar resellers and other large customers. To reduce and manage these risks, we assess
the financial condition of our large registrar resellers and other large customers when we enter into or amend agreements with them and we limit credit risk by
collecting in advance when possible and setting and adjusting credit limits where we deem appropriate.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, have evaluated our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) prior to the filing of this quarterly report. Based
on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were, in design and operation, effective at a reasonable level of assurance.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this quarterly report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHE R INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
There is no pending or threatened legal proceeding to which we are a party that, in our belief, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial results and existing or future operations.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information contained in this report, including the section of this
report captioned “Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our unaudited interim financial statements
and related notes. If any of the events described in the following risk factors and the risks described elsewhere in this report occurs, our business, operating results
and financial condition could be seriously harmed. This report also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that are described below and elsewhere in this report.
Risks Relating to Our Businesses
If we are unsuccessful in marketing and selling our gTLDs or there is insufficient consumer demand for our gTLDs, our future business and results of
operations would be materially and adversely affected.
Our registry services business, which derives most of its revenue from registration fees for domain names, is expected to generate a significant portion
of our revenue and margin in the future. It is unclear what the ultimate market size or demand is or will be for the new gTLDs that we offer to the market. There
can be no guarantees that consumers will demand or accept new gTLDs in general or our new gTLDs in particular.
We face significant competition to our registry services business and we may not be able to develop or maintain significant market share.
Prior to the launch of the New gTLD Program, there were over 20 gTLD registries and over 290 ccTLD registries. We face competition in the registry
services space from other established and more experienced operators in these service offerings, including other gTLD and ccTLD registries, as well as new
entrants into the domain name services industry, some of which have greater financial, marketing and other resources. In particular, we face direct competition with
other new gTLD registries offering gTLDs similar to our offerings. For example, our .DENTIST domain names compete directly with a competing registry’s
.DENTAL domain names.
Other registries with more experience or with greater resources may launch marketing campaigns for new or existing TLDs, which result in registrars
or their resellers giving other TLDs greater prominence on their websites, advertising or marketing materials. In addition, such registries could offer aggressive
price discounts on the gTLDs they offer or bundle gTLDs as a loss leader with other services. If we are unable to match or beat such marketing and pricing
initiatives, or are otherwise unable to successfully compete with other registries, we may not be able to develop, maintain and grow significant market share for our
new gTLD offerings, and our business, financial condition and results of operation would be adversely affected.
Our registry services business is substantially dependent upon third‑‑parties to market and distribute our gTLDs and we would be adversely affected if these
relationships are terminated or diminished.
A large portion of our gTLD sales are made through third-party channels, including resellers currently on our platform and third-party registrars. Our
distribution partners also offer our competitors’ gTLDs. The extent to which our third-party distribution partners sell our gTLDs is partly a function of pricing,
terms and special marketing promotions offered by us and our competitors. Our agreements with our third-party distribution partners are generally nonexclusive
and may be terminated by them without cause. Our business would be adversely affected
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if such distribution partners chose not to offer our gTLDs in the future or chose to sell or offer greater amounts of competitive gTLDs relative to the amount of our
gTLDs they sell or offer.
Our marketing efforts may not be successful or may become more expensive, either of which could increase our costs and materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
We spend significant resources marketing our brands, services and new gTLDs. We rely on relationships with a wide variety of third parties, including
registrars, resellers and other partners, to source new customers and to promote our new gTLDs and domain name services. In addition, from time to time, we may
spend a significant amount on marketing, including through bundling, price promotions and online advertising . With any of our brands, services and new gTLDs,
if our marketing activities are inefficient or unsuccessful, if important third-party relationships or marketing strategies become more expensive or unavailable, or
are suspended or terminated, for any reason, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.
As a new gTLD registry, we are subject to ICANN’s registry operator agreement and governing policies, which may change to our detriment.
We are required to enter into a registry operator agreement with ICANN (each, a “New gTLD Registry Agreement”) for each new gTLD that we
operate. To date, we have entered into 40 New gTLD Registry Agreements. Of the 40 new gTLDs for which we are the registry operator, all of them have been
delegated to us and inserted into the Root Zone.
We face risks arising from our New gTLD Registry Agreements with ICANN, including the following:
·

ICANN could adopt or promote policies, procedures or programs that in each case are inconsistent with our current or future plans, or that affect
our competitive position. For example, each of the New gTLD Registry Agreements contains guidelines for the operation of vertically integrated
enterprises operating both a registrar and a registry. If ICANN were to materially change those guidelines or prohibit such vertical integration,
such a change would materially and adversely affect our future growth, business and results of operations;

·

under certain circumstances, ICANN could terminate one or more of our New gTLD Registry Agreements; and

·

ICANN has the right to increase the fees due from the registry operator under the New gTLD Registry Agreements. The increase in these fees
with respect to any gTLDs for which we act as the registry either must be included in the prices we charge to registrars or absorbed by us. If we
absorb such cost increases or if increased prices to registrars act as a deterrent to registration, our profits may be adversely impacted.

If our customers do not renew their domain name registrations or if they transfer their existing registrations to our competitors and we fail to replace their
business, our business would be adversely affected.
Our success depends in large part on our registrar customers’ renewals of their domain name registrations. Our customer renewal rate for expiring
domain name registrations was 73.3% and 74.1% for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and 75.3% and 75.8% for the six months ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. If we are unable to maintain our overall renewal rates for domain name registrations or if any decrease in our renewal rates,
including due to transfers, is not offset by increases in new customer growth rates, our customer base and our revenue would likely decrease. This would also
reduce the number of domain name registration customers to whom we could market our other higher margin services, which could further harm our revenue and
profitability, drive up our customer acquisition costs and negatively impact our operating results. Any significant decline in renewals of domain name registrations
not offset by new domain name registrations would likely have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our registrar services business is dependent on third-party resellers, including a small number of resellers that account for a significant portion of our domain
names under manage ment. Our failure to maintain or strengthen our relationships with resellers, particularly those servicing a large percentage of our
domain name registration customers, would materially and adversely affect our business.
As a registrar with a wholesale component, we provide domain name registration services and offer value‑added services through a network of
approximately 28,000 active resellers, comprised of small businesses, large e‑commerce websites, internet service providers and web‑hosting companies, as well as
through companies using our hosted back‑end registrar platform. Our agreements with our resellers are generally nonexclusive and may be terminated by them or
by us without cause. These resellers, in turn, contract directly with domain name registrants to deliver these services. Maintaining and deepening relationships with
our resellers is an important part of our growth strategy, as strong third-party distribution arrangements enhance our ability to market our products and to increase
our domain names under management, revenue and profitability.
Total revenue earned from resellers was $63.4 million, or 58% of total revenue, for the six months ended June 30, 2016, and was $62.9 million, or 61%
of total revenue, for the comparable prior year period. As of June 30, 2016, our three largest resellers accounted for approximately 38% of our total domain names
under management, and our largest reseller, Namecheap, represented approximately 28% of total domain names under management. In addition, Namecheap
accounted for approximately 18% of our total revenue for both of the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The term of our current agreement
with Namecheap expires in December 2018, but will automatically renew for an additional three-year period unless terminated by either party. There can be no
assurance that our established reseller distribution relationships will continue, as our resellers may cease to operate or otherwise terminate their relationship with
us. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain favorable business terms with our resellers. Any reduction in access to third-party
reseller distributors, particularly those servicing a large percentage of our domain name registration customers, would materially and adversely affect our ability to
market our products and to generate revenue.
Governmental and regulatory policies or claims concerning the domain name registration system, and industry reactions to those policies or claims, may cause
instability in the industry and negatively impact our business.
ICANN is a private sector, not‑for‑profit corporation formed in 1998 for the express purpose of managing a number of internet infrastructure related
tasks previously performed directly by the U.S. Department of Commerce, including managing the domain name registration system (“DNS”). ICANN has been
the subject of scrutiny by the public and by the United States and other governments around the world with many of those governments becoming increasingly
interested in ICANN’s role in internet governance. For example, the U.S. Congress held hearings to evaluate ICANN’s selection process for new TLDs and its
plans to transition the IANA functions from coordination by the U.S. Department of Commerce to a multi‑stakeholder body. In addition, ICANN faces significant
questions regarding its efficacy as a private sector entity. ICANN may continue to evolve both its long‑term structure and mission to address perceived
shortcomings such as a lack of accountability to the public and a failure to maintain a strong, effective multi‑stakeholder internet governance institution.
As a key participant in the DNS, we continue to face the following risks:
·

the U.S. or any other government may seek to influence ICANN’s role in overseeing the DNS and the coordination of the IANA functions;

·

the internet community, the U.S. or other governments may (1) refuse to recognize ICANN’s authority or support its policies, (2) attempt to exert
pressure on ICANN to implement policies favorable to certain national interests, or (3) enact laws that conflict with ICANN’s policies, each of
which could create challenges for companies dependent on smooth operation of the DNS;

·

some of ICANN’s policies and practices, and the policies and practices adopted by registries and registrars, could be found to conflict with the
laws of one or more jurisdictions;
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·

the terms of the Registrar Accreditation Agreement (the “RAA”), under which we are accredited as a registrar, could change in ways that are
disadvantageous to us or under certain circumstances could be terminated by ICANN preventing us from operating our registrar service, or
ICANN could adopt unilateral changes to the RAA that are unfavorable to us, that are inconsistent with our current or future plans, or that affect
our competitive position;

·

international regulatory or governing bodies, such as the International Telecommunications Union or the European Union, may gain increased
influence over the management and regulation of the DNS, leading to increased regulation in areas such as data security, taxation, intellectual
property rights, privacy and data protection;

·

ICANN or any third-party registries may implement contract or policy changes that would impact our ability to run our current business practices
throughout the various stages of the life cycle of a domain name;

·

legal, regulatory or other challenges could be brought, including challenges to the agreements governing our relationship with ICANN, or to the
legal authority underlying the roles and actions of the U.S. Department of Commerce, ICANN or us;

·

the U.S. Congress or other legislative bodies in the United States could take action that is unfavorable to us or that influences customers to move
their business from our services to those located outside the United States; and

·

ICANN could fail to maintain its role in managing the authoritative database for the internet, known as the “Root Zone,” and IANA functions,
potentially resulting in hindrances to the DNS.

Additionally, some governments and governmental authorities outside the United States have in the past disagreed, and may in the future disagree,
with the actions, policies or programs of ICANN, the U.S. government and registries relating to the DNS. The Affirmation of Commitments established several
multi‑party review panels and contemplates a greater involvement by foreign governments and governmental authorities in the oversight and review of ICANN.
These periodic review panels may recommend changes to ICANN that are unfavorable to our business.
The occurrence of any of these events could create instability in the DNS and may make it difficult for us to introduce new services in our registrar and
registry services business. These events could also disrupt or suspend portions of our domain name registration solution and subject us to additional restrictions on
how the registrar and registry services businesses are conducted, which would result in reduced revenue.
We may not be able to maintain our strategic relationships with third parties.
We have formed strategic alliances with certain business partners. For example, the gTLD acquisition process requires us to rely upon or negotiate and
collaborate with independent third parties, including Donuts. We have also contracted to provide Donuts with registry back‑end infrastructure services. In addition,
some of our business is conducted through NameJet, a joint venture with Web.com.
There can be no assurance that these strategic partners will continue their relationships with us in the future or that we will be able to pursue our stated
strategies with respect to these arrangements. Furthermore, our partners may (1) have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;
(2) take actions contrary to our policies or objectives; (3) undergo a change of control; (4) experience financial and other difficulties; or (5) be unable or unwilling
to fulfill their obligations under our agreements, which may affect our financial condition or results of operations.
In addition, we have or intend to enter into agreements with service providers or distribution partners who may partner with us in one area of our
business and compete with us in other areas of our business. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in establishing or maintaining these relationships
or that these relationships will be successful.
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We face significant competition to our registrar service offering, which we expect will continue to intensify. We may not be able to maintain or improve our
competitive position or market share.
We face significant competition from existing registrars and from new registrars that continue to enter the market. ICANN currently has over 2,100
registrars to register domain names in one or more of the gTLDs that it oversees. There are relatively few barriers to entry in this market, so as this market
continues to develop we expect the number of competitors to increase. The continued entry into the domain name registration market by competitive registrars and
unaccredited entities that act as resellers for registrars, and the rapid growth of some competitive registrars and resellers that have entered the market, may make it
difficult for us to maintain our current market share.
The market for domain name registration and other related value‑added web‑based services is highly competitive and rapidly evolving. We expect
competition to increase from existing competitors, as well as from new market entrants. These competitors include, among others, domain name registrars, website
design firms, website hosting companies, internet service providers, internet portals and search engine companies, and include companies such as GoDaddy,
Web.com, Microsoft, and Google. Some of these competitors have traditionally offered more robust value‑added services, and some have greater resources, more
brand recognition and consumer awareness, greater international scope and larger bases of existing customers. As a result, we may not be able to compete
successfully against them in future periods.
In addition, these and other large competitors, in an attempt to gain market share, may offer aggressive price discounts on the services they offer. These
pricing pressures may require us to match these discounts in order to remain competitive, which would reduce our margins, or cause us to lose customers who
decide to purchase our competitors’ discounted service offerings. In light of these factors, it may become increasingly difficult for us to compete successfully.
The relevant domain name registry and the ICANN regulatory body impose a charge upon each registrar for the administration of each domain name
registration. If these fees increase, it could have a significant impact upon our operating results.
Each registry typically imposes a fee in association with the registration of each domain name. We have no control over these agencies and cannot
predict when they may increase their respective fees. In addition, pricing of new gTLDs is generally not set or controlled by ICANN, which could result in
aggressive price increases on any particularly successful new gTLDs. The increase in these fees with respect to any gTLDs for which we do not act as the registry
either must be included in the prices we charge to our service providers, imposed as a surcharge or absorbed by us. Our profits may be adversely impacted if we
absorb such cost increases or if surcharges deter registration.
Our failure to register, maintain, secure, transfer or renew the domain names that we process on behalf of our customers or to provide our other services to our
customers without interruption could subject us to additional expenses, claims of loss or negative publicity that would materially and adversely affect our
business.
Clerical errors and system and process failures made by us may result in inaccurate and incomplete information in our database of domain names and
in our failure to properly register or to maintain, secure, transfer or renew the registration of domain names that we process on behalf of our customers. In addition,
any errors of this type might result in the interruption of our other services. Failure to properly register or to maintain, secure, transfer or renew the registration of
our customers’ domain names or to provide our other services without interruption, even if we are not at fault, may result in our incurring significant expenses and
may subject us to claims of loss or to negative publicity, which could harm our business, revenue, financial condition and results of operations.
We could face liability, or our corporate image might be impaired, as a result of the activities of our customers or the content of their websites.
Our role as a registry and as a registrar of domain names and a provider of website hosting and other value‑added services may subject us to potential
liability for illegal activities by domain name registrants on their websites. For example, eNom has been named in lawsuits in which a customer registered a domain
name through
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eNom and published content that was allegedly defamatory to another business whose n ame is similar to the domain name. Other allegations of liability have been
made based on domain name registrants’ alleged violations of copyrights or trademarks of third parties. In each of these cases, plaintiffs may argue that we are
responsible because we benefited from or participated in the infringing conduct. In addition, we may be embroiled in complaints and lawsuits which, even if
ultimately resolved in our favor, add to our costs of doing business and may divert management’s time and attention.
We provide an automated service that enables a user to register a domain name and publish its content on a website hosted on that domain name. Our
registrars do not monitor or review, nor do our registrar agreements with ICANN require that we monitor or review, the appropriateness of the domain names
registered by domain name registrants or the content of registrant websites, and we have no control over the activities in which our domain name registrants
engage. While we have policies in place to terminate domain name registrations or to take other appropriate action if presented with a court order, governmental
injunction or evidence of illegal conduct from law enforcement or a trusted industry partner, we have in the past been publicly criticized for not being more
proactive in certain areas, such as policing online pharmacies acting in violation of U.S. law by consumer watchdogs, and we may encounter similar criticism in the
future. This criticism could harm our reputation. Conversely, were we to terminate a domain name registration in the absence of legal compulsion or clear evidence
of illegal conduct from a legitimate source, we could be criticized for prematurely and improperly terminating a domain name registered by a customer. In addition,
despite the policies we have in place to terminate domain name registrations or to take other appropriate actions, customers could nonetheless engage in prohibited
activities.
Finally, existing bodies of law, including the criminal laws of various states, may be deemed to apply or new statutes or regulations may be adopted in
the future, impacting domain name registrants or their websites, any of which could expose us to further liability and increase our costs of doing business.

We may face liability or become involved in disputes over registration of domain names and control over websites.
As a domain name registrar, we regularly become involved in disputes over registration of domain names and we may become involved in similar
disputes with our registry services business. Most of these disputes arise as a result of a third-party registering a domain name that is identical or similar to another
party’s trademark or the name of a living person. These disputes are typically resolved through the Uniform Domain‑Name Dispute‑Resolution Policy (the
“UDRP”) or the Uniform Rapid Suspension (the “URS”), ICANN’s administrative processes for domain name dispute resolution, or less frequently through
litigation under the Anticybersquatting Consumer Protection Act (“ACPA”) or under general theories of trademark infringement or dilution. Therefore, we may
face an increased volume of domain name registration disputes in the future as the overall number of registered domain names increases.
Domain name registrars also face potential tort law liability for their role in wrongful transfers of domain names. The safeguards and procedures we
have adopted may not be successful in insulating us against liability from such claims in the future. In addition, we face potential liability for other forms of
“domain name hijacking,” including misappropriation by third parties of our network of customer domain names and attempts by third parties to operate websites
on these domain names or to extort the customer whose domain name and website were misappropriated. Furthermore, our risk of incurring liability for a security
breach on a customer website would increase if the security breach were to occur following our sale to a customer of a Secure Socket Layer certificate that proved
ineffective in preventing the security breach. Finally, we are exposed to potential liability as a result of our private domain name registration service, wherein we
become the domain name registrant, on a proxy basis, on behalf of our customers. While we have a policy of providing the underlying Whois information and
reserve the right to cancel privacy services on domain names giving rise to domain name disputes, including when we receive reasonable evidence of an actionable
harm, the safeguards we have in place may not be sufficient to avoid liability in the future, which could increase our costs of doing business.
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As the number of available domain names with commercial value in existing TLDs diminishes over time, our domain name registration revenue and our
overall business could be adversely impacted.
As the number of domain name registrations increases and the number of available domain names with commercial value in existing TLDs diminishes
over time and if it is perceived that the more desirable domain names are generally unavailable (and new gTLDs are not seen as a viable alternative), fewer internet
users may register domain names with us. If this occurs, our domain name registration revenue and our overall business could be adversely affected.
Changes in internet user behavior, either as a result of evolving technologies or user practices, may impact the demand for domain names.
Currently, internet users often navigate to a website either by directly typing its domain name into a web browser or through the use of a search engine.
If (1) web browser or internet search technologies were to change significantly; (2) internet search engines were to change the value of their algorithms on the use
of a domain name for finding a website; (3) internet users’ preferences or practices were to shift away from direct navigation; (4) internet users were to
significantly increase the use of web and mobile device applications to locate and access content; or (5) internet users were to increasingly use third level domains
or alternate identifiers, such as social networking and microblogging sites, then in each case, the demand for domain names could decrease.
We may experience unforeseen liabilities in connection with our acquisitions of internet domain names or arising out of domain names included in our
portfolio of domain names that are monetized via advertising, which could negatively impact our financial results.
Certain of our acquisitions involve the acquisition of a large portfolio of previously registered domain names. Furthermore, we have separately
acquired, and may acquire in the future, additional previously registered domain names. In some cases, these acquired names may have trademark significance that
is not readily apparent to us or is not identified by us in the bulk purchasing process. As a result we may face demands by third-party trademark owners asserting
infringement or dilution of their rights and seeking transfer of acquired domain names under the UDRP, URS or actions under the ACPA. The potential violation of
third-party intellectual property rights and potential causes of action under consumer protection laws may subject us to unforeseen liabilities including injunctions
and judgments for money damages.
We depend upon the quality of traffic to our portfolio of domain names and the domain names of third parties to provide value to online advertisers who
advertise on those domain names, and any failure in our quality control could materially and adversely affect the value of such domain names to our thirdparty advertisement distribution providers and online advertisers and thereby adversely affect our revenue.
We use technology and processes to monitor the quality of, and to identify any anomalous metrics associated with, the internet traffic that we deliver to
online advertisers and to our network of customer domain names. These metrics may be indicative of low quality clicks such as non‑human processes, including
robots, spiders or other software, the mechanical automation of clicking, and other types of invalid clicks or click fraud. Even with such monitoring in place, there
is a risk that a certain amount of low‑quality traffic, or traffic that is deemed to be invalid by online advertisers, will be delivered to such online advertisers. As a
result, we may be required to credit future amounts owed to us by our advertisers. Furthermore, low‑quality or invalid traffic may be detrimental to our
relationships with third-party advertisement distribution providers and online advertisers, and could adversely affect our revenue.
If, due to new regulations or otherwise, we are unable to acquire, renew or sell domain names, we may not be able to maintain our domain name aftermarket
and advertising business.
Maintaining our domain name aftermarket and advertising services business depends on our ability to acquire domain names from a variety of sources.
These sources include previously registered domain names that are not renewed at the domain name registry by the current owner, private sales of domain names,
participation in domain name auctions and registering new domain names identified by us. The acquisition and renewal of domain
-33-

names generally are governed by regulatory bodies. These regulatory bodies could establish additional requirements for previously registered domain name s or
modify the requirements for holding domain names. Any changes in the way expired registrations of domain names are made available for acquisition could make
it more difficult to acquire domain names. Similarly, increasing competition from other potent ial buyers could make it more difficult for us to acquire domain
names on a cost ‑effective basis. Any such adverse change in our ability to acquire high quality, previously registered domain names, as well as any increase in
competition in the domain name reseller market, could materially and adversely affect our ability to maintain our domain name aftermarket and advertising
business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our failure to renew our domain name registrations or
any increase in the cost of renewal could materially and adversely affect our revenue and profitability.
Changes in the level of spending on online advertising and/or the way that online networks compensate owners of websites could impact the demand for
domain names.
Many domain name registrants seek to generate revenue through advertising on their websites. Changes in the way these registrants are compensated or
changes in the way the revenue share is retained (including in each case, changes in methodologies and metrics) by advertisers and advertisement placement
networks, such as Google, Yahoo! and Bing, have, and may continue to, adversely affect the market for those domain names favored by such registrants. These
changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, a decrease in demand and/or the renewal rate for those domain names. For example, Google has in the past
changed, and may in the future change, its search algorithm and pay‑per‑click advertising policies to provide less compensation for certain types of websites. This
has made such websites less profitable, which has resulted in, and may continue to result in, fewer domain name registrations and renewals. In addition, as a result
of the general economic environment, spending on online advertising and marketing may not increase as projected or may be reduced, which in turn, may result in
a further decline in the demand for those domain names.
If the security measures for our systems are breached, or if our products or services are subject to attacks that degrade or deny the ability of users and
customers to maintain or access them, our reputation and business may be harmed and we may incur significant legal and financial exposure.
Some of our systems, products and services, including through third-party service providers – some of which provide cloud-based offerings – store,
process and transmit user, customers’, and our own information. Therefore, the secure maintenance and transmission of customer information is an important
element of our operations. Our information technology and other systems that maintain and transmit customer information, including location or personal
information, or those of our service providers, may be compromised by a malicious third-party penetration of our network security, or that of a third-party service
provider, or impacted by intentional or inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees, or those of a third-party service provider. Cyber-attacks, which include
the use of malware, computer viruses, phishing attacks, social engineering and other means for disruption or unauthorized access, have increased in frequency,
scope and potential harm in recent years. While, to date, we have not been the subject of cyber-attacks or other cyber incidents which, individually or in the
aggregate, have been material to our operations or financial condition, the preventive actions we take to reduce the risk of cyber incidents and protect our
information technology and networks may be insufficient to repel a major cyber-attack in the future. As a result, our users’ and customers’ information may be
lost, disclosed, accessed, used, corrupted, destroyed or taken without their consent.
In addition, we and our third-party service providers process and maintain our proprietary business information, employee information and data related
to our business-to-business customers or suppliers. Our information technology and other systems that maintain and transmit this information, or those of our
service providers, may also be compromised by cyber-attacks or other malicious third-party penetration of our network security or that of a third-party service
provider, or impacted by intentional or inadvertent actions or inactions by our employees or those of a third-party service provider. We also purchase equipment
from third parties that could contain software defects, Trojan horses, malware, or other means by which third parties could access our network or the information
stored or transmitted on such networks or equipment. As a result, our business information, employee information or customer or supplier data may be lost,
disclosed, accessed, used, corrupted, destroyed or taken without consent. Any security breach involving the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure
of proprietary business information or personal information of employees, consumers or others could damage our
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reputation, expose us to the risk of litigation and liability, disrupt our operations and have a materially adverse effect on our business.
We are required to comply with guidelines issued under the Federal Trade Commission Act, which governs the collection, use and storage of consumer
information, and establishes principles relating to notice, consent, access and data integrity and security. Several states have adopted legislation that requires
businesses to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices to protect sensitive personal information and to provide notice to consumers in
the event of a security breach. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any data-related consent orders, Federal
Trade Commission requirements or orders or other federal, state or international privacy or consumer protection-related laws, regulations or industry self-regulatory
principles could result in claims, proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others, or other liabilities, which could adversely affect our business.
Any major compromise of our data or network security, failure to prevent or mitigate the loss of our services or information and delays in detecting
any such compromise or loss could disrupt our operations, impact our reputation and customers’ willingness to purchase our services and subject us to additional
costs and liabilities, including litigation and regulatory investigations, which could be material. A determination by the Federal Trade Commission that we did not
maintain “reasonable security” for our customer and/or employee information could also impact our reputation and customers’ willingness to purchase our services
and subject us to additional costs and liabilities, including litigation and regulatory investigations, which could be material.
We face a number of operational challenges to our business, which may make it difficult to predict our future performance.
Our revenue and operating results could fail to meet expectations if we are unable to adequately address a number of operational challenges, some of
which are outside of our control, including:
·

a reduction in the number of domain names under management or in the rate at which this number grows, due to slow growth or market
contraction, lower renewal rates or other factors;

·

reductions in the percentage of our domain name registration customers who purchase additional services from us;

·

changes in our pricing policies, including our pricing optimization efforts, pricing policy changes of our competitors, changes in domain name
fees charged to us by internet registries or ICANN, or other competitive pressures on our prices;

·

changes in the way in which third parties compensate us for advertising placements on our owned and operated, as well as third-party websites;

·

our ability to identify, develop and successfully launch and market new products and services, including new gTLDs, as well as our ability to
introduce new opportunities or retire older existing products and services;

·

the timing and success of new services and technology enhancements introduced by our competitors, which could impact both new customer
growth and renewal rates;

·

the entry of new competitors in our markets;

·

our ability to keep our registrar and registry platforms and our domain name registration services operational at a reasonable cost and without
service interruptions;

·

increased development expenses relating to new services;

·

the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the maintenance and expansion of our services, operations and
infrastructure;

·

our ability to identify acquisition targets and successfully integrate acquired businesses into our operations;
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·

our focus on long ‑term goals over short ‑term results;

·

any negative publicity or other actions which harm our brand;

·

federal, state or foreign regulation or legislation affecting our business; and

·

weakness or uncertainty in general economic or industry conditions.

It is possible that in one or more future quarters, due to any of the factors listed above, a combination of those factors or other reasons, our operating
results may be below our expectations and the expectations of public market analysts and investors. Such an event could have a material adverse impact on the
price of our shares.
Difficult economic and financial conditions could materially and adversely affect us.
The financial results of our business are both directly and indirectly dependent upon economic conditions throughout the world, which in turn can be
impacted by conditions in the global financial markets. Uncertainty about global economic conditions may lead businesses to postpone spending in response to
tighter credit and reductions in income or asset values. Weak economic activity may lead government customers to cut back on services. Factors such as interest
rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, changes in laws (including laws relating to taxation), trade barriers, currency exchange rates and controls, and national
and international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts or security operations) could materially and adversely affect our business and investments,
which could reduce our revenue, profitability and value of our assets. These factors may also adversely affect the business, liquidity and financial condition of our
customers. In addition, periods of poor economic conditions could increase our ongoing exposure to credit risks on our accounts receivable balances. This could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we do not effectively manage our growth, our operating performance will suffer and we may lose customers.
Overall growth will place significant demands on our management and our operational and financial infrastructure. In particular, continued growth
may make it more difficult for us to accomplish the following:
·

successfully scale our technology and infrastructure to support a larger business;

·

maintain our customer service standards;

·

develop and improve our operational, financial and management controls and maintain adequate reporting systems and procedures;

·

acquire and integrate businesses; and

·

respond effectively to competition and potential negative effects of competition on profit margins.

In addition, our personnel, systems, procedures and controls may be inadequate to support our current and future operations. The improvements
required to manage our growth will require us to make significant expenditures, expand, train and manage our employee base and allocate valuable management
resources. If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our operating performance will suffer and we may lose our customers and key personnel.
We may undertake one or more acquisitions that could entail significant execution, integration and operational risks.
Our future growth may depend, in part, on acquisitions of complementary businesses, solutions or technologies rather than internal development. We
may make acquisitions in the future to increase the scope of our business domestically and internationally. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can
be difficult, time‑consuming and costly, and we may not be able to successfully complete identified acquisitions. If we are unable to identify suitable future
acquisition opportunities, reach agreement with such parties or obtain the financing necessary to make such acquisitions, we could lose market share to competitors
who are able to make such acquisitions. This loss of market share could negatively impact our business, revenue and future growth.
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Furthermore, even if we successfully complete an acquisition , we may be unable to successfully assimilate and integrate the websites, business,
technologies, solutions, personnel or operations of the acquired company, particularly if key personnel of an acquired company decide not to work for us. In
addition, we ma y incur indebtedness to complete an acquisition, which would increase our costs and impose operational limitations, or issue equity securities,
which would dilute our stockholders’ ownership and could adversely affect the price of our common stock. We may also unknowingly inherit liabilities from future
acquisitions that arise after the acquisition and are not adequately covered by indemnities.
We are bound by covenants contained in our credit facilities that may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies, and the financing incurred under
our credit facilities could adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
Our credit facilities require us to comply with various covenants that limit our ability, among other things, to:
·

incur additional indebtedness;

·

grant additional liens;

·

make investments;

·

complete mergers or acquisitions;

·

dispose of assets;

·

pay dividends, redeem or repurchase stock; and

·

engage in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. In addition, our credit facilities include financial covenants. Our revolving
credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB Credit Facility”) requires us to maintain a minimum consolidated EBITDA, a maximum consolidated net leverage
ratio, and minimum liquidity ratio. Our term loan credit facility with certain funds managed by Tennenbaum Capital Partners LLC (“Tennenbaum Credit Facility”)
requires us to maintain compliance with a maximum consolidated net leverage ratio and minimum liquidity. The Tennenbaum Credit Facility is also subject to
certain mandatory prepayments from 50% of excess cash flow (as determined under the Tennenbaum Credit Facility), which will be paid on the first to occur of the
maturity, termination or refinancing of the SVB Credit Facility or the acceleration and termination of the SVB Credit Facility, from excess cash flow determined
for the period from the closing of the Tennenbaum Credit Facility to the end of the fiscal year ended as of the date 90 days prior to such date, and thereafter
annually for excess cash flow determined for each subsequent fiscal year; from certain asset sales and insurance and condemnation events, to the extent not used to
prepay loans and cash collateralize letters of credit and permanently reduce the commitments under the SVB Credit Facility, subject to customary reinvestment
rights; and from the issuances of certain indebtedness. Mandatory prepayments from asset sales and issuances of indebtedness are subject to a prepayment
premium that is the same or for voluntary prepayments. Our failure to comply with any covenants in our credit facilities, including any of the financial covenants,
could result in an event of default. Our failure to meet our payment obligations under our credit facilities, including any principal and accrued interest payments,
could also result in an event of default. Our ability to meet our payment obligations and to satisfy our financial covenants under our credit facilities depends upon
our ability to generate cash flows. Our ability to generate cash flows, to some extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative and
regulatory factors that are beyond our control. There is no assurance that our business will generate sufficient cash flows from operations in an amount sufficient to
enable us to meet our payment obligations and financial covenants under our credit facilities. If we are not able to generate sufficient cash flows from operations to
service our obligations under our credit facilities, we may need to refinance or restructure our credit facilities, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments, or
seek to raise additional capital. If we are unable to implement one or more of these alternatives, we may not be able to meet our payment obligations under our
credit facilities.
-37-

If an event of default occurs, and such event of default is not cured or waived, our lender could:
·

terminate its lending commitments;

·

accelerate all outstanding obligations under the credit facility and demand that all outstanding obligations be due and payable immediately; and

·

exercise its remedies as a secured creditor with respect to all of the collateral that is securing the outstanding obligations under our credit
facilities.

If our lenders exercise their remedies under our credit facilities and accelerate all outstanding obligations under our credit facilities, our assets and cash
flows may not be sufficient to fully repay all of our outstanding obligations under our credit facilities.
We may need additional funding to meet our obligations and to pursue our business strategy. Additional funding may not be available to us and our financial
condition could therefore be adversely affected.
To the extent we do not generate sufficient cash from operations, we will need to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity
financings to meet our ongoing obligations and to execute our growth strategy, which may include the selective acquisition of additional new gTLDs, domain
names and technologies as well as other registry and registrar services providers. Adequate sources of capital funding may not be available when needed, or may
not be available on favorable terms. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or certain types of convertible debt securities, dilution to the holdings of our
existing stockholders may result. If we raise debt financing, we will incur interest expense and the terms of such debt may be at unfavorable rates and could require
the pledge of assets as security or subject us to financial and/or operating covenants that affect our ability to conduct our business.
If funding is insufficient at any time in the future, or we are unable to conduct capital raising activities as a result of restrictions in the Tax Matters
Agreement, we will be required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate material parts of the implementation of our business strategy, including potential
additional acquisitions or internally developed business, and we may be unable to take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any
of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have received unsolicited, non-binding proposals to acquire certain assets of our business, which proposals may be disruptive to our business and threaten
to adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have received and rejected unsolicited, non-binding proposals to purchase certain of our new gTLD assets, including from entities associated with
our activist stockholders. For example, on June 24, 2016, Donuts sent us a letter containing an unsolicited proposal to acquire our registry business for $70 million
in an all-cash transaction, which Donuts made public on the same day. After comprehensive evaluation and review, our board of directors rejected the proposal,
concluding that it substantially undervalued our registry business and our future growth prospects and was not in the best interests of Rightside's stockholders. In
addition, we have received and rejected various other unsolicited, non-binding proposals to purchase certain of our new gTLD assets. The uncertainty regarding
future actions of these and other third parties may disrupt our business, having a negative effect on our business operations, financial condition, or results of
operations. Responding to these offers has been, and may continue to be, a distraction for management and employees, and has required and may continue to
require, us to incur additional expenses and costs.
If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful to our customers, we may not remain competitive, and our revenue and
operating results could suffer.
Our success depends on our ability to innovate and provide products and services useful to our customers in our registrar and registry service offerings.
Our competitors are constantly developing innovations in domain name registration and related services, such as web hosting, email and website creation solutions.
As a result, we must continue to invest significant resources in product development in order to maintain and enhance our existing
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products and services and introduce new products and services that deliver a sufficient return on investment an d that our customers can easily and effectively use.
If we are unable to provide quality products and services, we may lose customers, and our revenue and operating results would suffer.
We may have difficulty scaling and adapting our existing technology and network infrastructure to accommodate increased traffic and technology advances or
changing business requirements, which could lead to the loss of consumers, and cause us to incur expenses to make architectural changes.
To be successful, our network infrastructure has to perform well and be reliable. The greater the user traffic and the greater the complexity of our
products and services, the more computing power we will need. In the future, we may spend substantial amounts to purchase or lease data centers and equipment,
upgrade our technology and network infrastructure to handle increased traffic on our owned and operated websites and roll out new products and services. This
expansion could be expensive and complex and could result in inefficiencies or operational failures. If we do not implement this expansion successfully, or if we
experience inefficiencies and operational failures during its implementation, the quality of our products and services and our customers’ experience could decline.
This could damage our reputation and lead us to lose current and potential customers. The costs associated with these adjustments to our architecture could harm
our operating results. Cost increases, failure to accommodate new technologies or changing business requirements could harm our business, revenue and financial
condition.
We rely on technology infrastructure and a failure to update or maintain this technology infrastructure could adversely affect our business.
Significant portions of our products and services, as well as internal processes and systems, are dependent on technology infrastructure that was
developed over multiple years. Updating and replacing our technology infrastructure may be challenging to implement and manage, may take time to test and
deploy, may cause us to incur substantial costs and may cause us to suffer data loss or delays or interruptions in service. For example, we have suffered a number of
server outages at our data center facilities, which resulted from certain failures that triggered data center wide outages and disrupted critical technology and
infrastructure service capabilities. These events impacted service to some of our customers. As a result of these data center outages, we have developed initiatives
to create automatic backup capacity at an alternate facility for our top revenue generating services to address similar scenarios in the future. However, we cannot
guarantee that our backup systems, regular data backups, security protocols, network protection mechanisms and other procedures currently in place, or that may be
in place in the future will be adequate to prevent similar network and service interruption, system failure, damage to one or more of our systems or data loss. Such
delays or interruptions in our service may cause our consumers to become dissatisfied with our offerings and could adversely affect our business. Failure to update
our technology infrastructure as new technologies become available may also put us in a weaker position relative to a number of our key competitors. Competitors
with newer technology infrastructure may have greater flexibility and be in a position to respond more quickly to new opportunities, which may impact our
competitive position in certain markets and adversely affect our business.
The interruption or failure of our information technology and communications systems, or those of third parties that we rely upon, could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
The availability of our products and services depends on the continuing operation of our information technology and communications systems. Any
damage to or failure of our systems, or those of third parties that we rely upon (e.g., co‑location providers for data servers, storage devices, including cloud-based
storage, or our registry DNS services provider for our registry and network access) could result in interruptions in our service, which could reduce our revenue and
profits, and damage our brand. Our systems are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters, power loss, telecommunications failures, computer
viruses or other attempts to harm our systems. We have experienced a number of computer distributed denial of service attacks which have forced us to shut down
certain of our websites, including www.eNom.com , and future denial of service attacks may cause all or portions of our websites to become unavailable. In
addition, some of our data centers are located in areas with a high risk of major earthquakes. Our data centers are also subject to break‑ins, sabotage and intentional
acts of vandalism, and to potential disruptions if the operators of these facilities have financial difficulties. Some of our systems are not fully redundant, and our
disaster recovery planning is currently underdeveloped and does not account for all eventualities. The occurrence of a natural disaster, a decision to close a facility
we are using without adequate notice
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for financial reasons or other unanticipated problems at our data centers could result in lengthy interruptions in our service. In addition to dedicated data centers,
certain of our products are also cloud-based, and the amount of customer data stored on our servers has increased as our business has grown. Despite implementing
securi ty measures, our infrastructure may be vulnerable to computer viruses, worms, other malicious software programs, illegal or abusive content or similar
disruptive problems caused by our customers, employees, consultants or other internet users who attempt t o invade or disrupt public and private data networks.
Furthermore, third-party service providers may experience an interruption in operations or cease operations for any reason. For example, Root Zone
servers are administered and operated by a number of independent operators on a non‑regulated basis. Root Zone servers are name servers that contain authoritative
data for the very top of the DNS hierarchy. These servers have the software and data needed to locate name servers that contain authoritative data for the TLDs.
These Root Zone servers are critical to the functioning of the internet. Consequently, our registry services business could be harmed if any of the independent
operators fails to include or provide accessibility to the data that it maintains in the Root Zone servers that it controls, or if it or any of the third parties routing
internet communications presents inconsistent data for the TLDs or DNS generally. We may also be limited in our remedies against these providers in the event of
a failure of service. We also rely on third-party providers for components of our technology platform, such as hardware and software providers and registry DNS
services provider for our registry. A failure or limitation of service or available capacity by any of these third-party providers could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We depend on key personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain our current personnel or hire additional personnel, our ability to develop
and successfully market our business could be harmed.
We believe that our future success is highly dependent on the contributions of our executive officers as well as our ability to attract and retain highly
skilled managerial, sales, technical, engineering and finance personnel. We do not maintain “key person” life insurance policies for any of our executive officers.
Qualified individuals, including engineers, are in high demand, and we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. All of our officers and other
employees are at‑will employees, which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and
industry would be extremely difficult to replace. If we are unable to attract and retain our executive officers and key employees, our business, operating results and
financial condition will be harmed.
Volatility or lack of performance in our stock price may also affect our ability to attract employees and retain our key employees, due to the impact of
our stock price on the value of our equity incentive awards. Employees may be more likely to leave us if the equity incentive awards they are granted significantly
appreciate in value and create a perceived windfall. In addition, employees may be more inclined to leave us if the value of their equity incentive awards declines
with our stock price and these awards fail to provide appropriate incentives.
Our business could be negatively affected as a result of actions by activist stockholders.
Campaigns by stockholders to effect changes at publicly traded companies are sometimes led by investors seeking to increase short-term stockholder
value through various corporate actions such as proxy contests, financial or operational restructuring, or sales of assets or the entire company. We have recently
seen some investors increase their ownership positions in our common stock and initiate communications with us. For example, J. Carlo Cannell, the managing
member of Cannell Capital LLC and the general partner of Tonga Partners, L.P. (collectively, “Cannell”), filed a Schedule 13D in March 2016 reporting ownership
of approximately 7.2% of our common stock; Daniel M. Negari and Michael Ambrose (collectively, “Negari”) jointly filed a Schedule 13D in November 2015
reporting the acquisition of an aggregate of approximately 5.1% of our common stock; and FTS, Corp. filed a Schedule 13D in December 2015 reporting
ownership of approximately 6.0% of our common stock. Cannell provided its notice, which we determined was deficient, of Cannell’s intent to nominate six
director candidates for election as Class II directors. In addition, Cannell and Negari expressed intent to otherwise engage in discussions with our management, our
board of directors and others relating to strategic and operational opportunities for us that the activist stockholders believed would increase value to stockholders.
-40-

Actions by stockholder activists, including proxy contests for director elections, could adversely affe ct our business because:
·

Responding to a proxy contest and other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting our operations and
diverting the attention of management and our employees;

·

Perceived uncertainties as to our future direction caused by activist activities may result in the loss of potential business opportunities, and may
make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners; and

·

If individuals are elected to our board of directors with a specific agenda, it may adversely affect our ability to effectively and timely implement
our business strategy and create stockholder value.

If we are unable to obtain and maintain adequate insurance, our financial condition could be adversely affected in the event of uninsured or inadequately
insured loss or damage. Our ability to effectively recruit and retain qualified officers and directors may also be adversely affected if we experience difficulty in
maintaining adequate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.
While we currently have insurance for our business and property, we may not be able to obtain and maintain insurance policies on terms affordable to
us that would adequately insure our business and property against damage, loss or claims by third parties. To the extent our business or property suffers any
damages, losses or claims by third parties that are not covered or adequately covered by insurance, our financial condition may be materially adversely affected.
We currently have directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. If we are unable to maintain sufficient insurance to cover liability claims made against
our officers and directors, we may not be able to retain or recruit qualified officers and directors to manage our company, which could materially and adversely
affect our operations.
It may be difficult for us to retain or attract qualified officers and directors, which would adversely affect our business and our ability to maintain the listing of
our common stock on NASDAQ.
We may be unable to attract and retain qualified officers, directors and members of board committees required to effectively manage our business as a
result of changes in the rules and regulations which govern public companies, including, but not limited to, certifications from executive officers and requirements
for financial experts on boards of directors. The perceived increased personal risk associated with these changes may deter qualified individuals from accepting
these roles. Further, applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and NASDAQ heighten the requirements for board or committee membership, particularly with
respect to an individual’s independence from the corporation and level of experience in finance and accounting matters. We may have difficulty attracting and
retaining directors with the requisite qualifications. If we are unable to attract and retain qualified officers and directors, our business and our ability to maintain the
listing of our shares of common stock on NASDAQ would be adversely affected.
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If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property rights, our competitive position and business may suffer.
Our intellectual property, consisting of trade secrets, trademarks, copyrights and patents, is, in the aggregate, important to our business. We rely on a
combination of trade secret, trademark, copyright and patent laws in the United States and other jurisdictions together with confidentiality agreements and technical
measures to protect our proprietary rights. We rely more heavily on trade secret protection than patent protection. To protect our trade secrets, we control access to
our proprietary systems and technology and enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and confidentiality
agreements with other third parties. Effective trade secret, copyright, trademark and patent protection may not be available in all countries where we currently
operate or in which we may operate in the future. We face risks related to our intellectual property including that:
·

our intellectual property rights may not provide competitive advantages to us;

·

our ability to assert our intellectual property rights against potential competitors or to settle current or future disputes may be limited by our
agreements with third parties;

·

our intellectual property rights may not be enforced in jurisdictions where competition is intense or where legal protection is weak;

·

any of the patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights that we presently employ in our business could lapse
or be invalidated, circumvented, challenged or abandoned;

·

competitors could design around our protected systems and technology; or

·

we could lose the ability to assert our intellectual property rights against others.

Policing unauthorized use of our proprietary rights can be difficult and costly. In addition, it may be necessary to enforce or protect our intellectual
property rights through litigation or to defend litigation brought against us, which could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and management
attention and could adversely affect our business, even if we are successful on the merits.
Third parties may sue us for intellectual property infringement or misappropriation, which, if successful, could require us to pay significant damages or curtail
our offerings.
We cannot be certain that our internally developed or acquired systems and technologies do not and will not infringe the intellectual property rights of
others. In addition, we license content, software and other intellectual property rights from third parties and may be subject to claims of infringement or
misappropriation if such parties do not possess the necessary intellectual property rights to the products or services they license to us. We have in the past received
threats from non-practicing patent holders. We may in the future be subject to legal proceedings and claims that we have infringed the patent or other intellectual
property rights of a third-party. These claims sometimes involve patent holding companies or other patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and
against whom our own patents may provide little or no deterrence. In addition, third parties may in the future assert intellectual property infringement claims
against our customers, which we have agreed in certain circumstances to indemnify and defend against such claims. Any intellectual property‑related infringement
or misappropriation claims, whether or not meritorious, could result in costly litigation and could divert management resources and attention. Moreover, should we
be found liable for infringement or misappropriation, we may be required to seek to enter into licensing agreements, which may not be available on acceptable
terms or at all, pay substantial damages or limit or curtail our systems and technologies. Any successful lawsuit against us could also subject us to the invalidation
of our proprietary rights. Moreover, we may need to redesign some of our systems and technologies to avoid future infringement liability. Any of the foregoing
could prevent us from competing effectively and increase our costs.
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The use of open source software in our products and services may expose us to additional risks and negatively affect our intellectual property rights.
Some of our products and services use or incorporate software that is subject to one or more open source licenses. Open source software is typically
freely accessible, usable, and modifiable. Certain open source software licenses require a user who intends to distribute the open source software as a component of
the user’s software to disclose publicly part or all of the source code to the user’s software. In addition, certain open source software licenses require the user of
such software to make any derivative works of the open source code available to others on potentially unfavorable terms or at no cost.
The terms of many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts. Accordingly, there is a risk that those licenses could be
construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. In that event, we could be required to seek
licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our products or services, to re-develop our products or services, to discontinue sales of our products or
services, or to release our proprietary software code under the terms of an open source license, any of which could harm our business. Further, given the nature of
open source software, it may be more likely that third parties might assert copyright and other intellectual property infringement claims against us based on our use
of these open source software programs.
While we monitor the use of all open source software in our products, solutions, processes, and technology and try to ensure that no open source
software is used in such a way as to require us to disclose the source code to the related product or solution when we do not wish to do so, it is possible that such
use may have inadvertently occurred in deploying our proprietary solutions. In addition, if a third-party software provider has incorporated certain types of open
source software into software we license from such third-party for our products and services without our knowledge, we could, under certain circumstances, be
required to disclose the source code to our products and services. This could negatively affect our intellectual property position and our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.
Adverse results of legal proceedings could materially and adversely affect us.
We are subject to, and may in the future be subject to, a variety of legal proceedings and claims that arise out of the ordinary conduct of our business.
Results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. Irrespective of their merits, legal proceedings may be both lengthy and disruptive to our operations
and may cause significant expenditure and diversion of management attention. We may be faced with significant monetary damages or injunctive relief against us
that could materially and adversely affect all or a portion of our business operations or materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of
operations.
Certain U.S. and foreign laws could subject us to claims or otherwise harm our business.
We are subject to a variety of laws in the U.S. and abroad that may subject us to claims or other remedies. Our failure to comply with applicable laws
may subject us to additional liabilities, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Laws and regulations that are
particularly relevant to our business address:
·

domain name registration;

·

information security and privacy;

·

pricing, fees and taxes; and

·

intellectual property rights, including secondary liability for infringement by others.

The costs of complying or failing to comply with existing and new laws and regulations could limit our ability to operate in our current markets,
expose us to compliance costs and substantial liability and result in costly and time-consuming litigation. For example, the government of the PRC has announced
that it will begin enforcing regulations that require registry operators to, among other things, obtain a government-issued license in order to provide registry
services to registrars located in the PRC. These new regulations will likely impose additional costs
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on our provision of registry services in the PRC and could impact the growth or renewal rates of domain name registrations in the PRC. While we have been
granted a business license and may be required to apply for additional required licenses under these new regulations, there can be no assurance that we will obtain
any additional required license s in a timely manner or at all. If we fail to obtain the necessary licenses, we could be restricted or prohibited from providing registry
services to registrars located in the PRC. We anticipate that these new regulations will also require registrars in t he PRC to obtain a government-issued license to
sell domain names directly to registrants. Any failure by registrars to obtain these licenses could also impact the expansion of our business into the PRC.
Claims have been either threatened or filed against us under both U.S. and foreign laws for defamation, copyright infringement, patent infringement,
privacy violations, cybersquatting and trademark infringement. In the future, claims may also be brought against us based on tort law liability and other theories
based on our products and services.
Our business operations in countries outside the U.S. are subject to a number of U.S. federal laws and regulations, including restrictions imposed by the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), as well as trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) and the U.S. Department of
Commerce. The FCPA is intended to prohibit bribery of foreign officials or parties and requires U.S. public companies to keep books and records that accurately
and fairly reflect their transactions. OFAC and the U.S. Department of Commerce administer and enforce economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign
policy and national security goals against targeted foreign states, organizations and individuals.
If we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, financial penalties, reputational harm, incarceration
of our employees or restrictions on our operations, which could increase our costs of operations, reduce our profits or cause us to forgo opportunities that would
otherwise support our growth.
With regard to transfers of personal data, as such term is used in the European Union, or EU Data Protection Directive and applicable EU member state
legislation, from European customers to the U.S., we historically have relied upon adherence to the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Safe Harbor Privacy
Principles and compliance with the U.S.-EU and U.S.-Swiss Safe Harbor Frameworks agreed to by the U.S. Department of Commerce and the European Union and
Switzerland. The U.S.-EU Safe Harbor Framework, which, together, with the U.S.-Swiss Safe Harbor Framework, established the means for legitimizing the
transfer of personal data by U.S. companies from the European Economic Area, or EEA, to the U.S., was invalidated in October 2015 by the ECJ Ruling. As a
result of the ECJ Ruling, the Swiss data protection regulator has questioned the status of the U.S.-Swiss Safe Harbor Framework. U.S. and EU authorities reached
a political agreement on February 2, 2016 regarding a new means for legitimizing personal data transfers from the EEA to the United States, the EU-U.S. Privacy
Shield, which was formally adopted on July 12, 2016. We are currently taking steps in order to self-certify to the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield, which, together with the
U.S.-Swiss Safe Harbor Framework, we believe may serve as appropriate means for us to legitimize personal data transfers from the EEA to the United States,
barring any further action(s) taken by the applicable regulators. We may be unsuccessful in establishing legitimate means for our transfer of personal data from the
EEA or otherwise responding to the ECJ Ruling, and we may experience reluctance or refusal by current or prospective European customers to use our
solutions. Our response to the ECJ Ruling may cause us to assume additional liabilities or incur additional expenses for implementing compliance requirements,
and the ECJ Ruling and our response could adversely affect our billings. We, and those transferring personal data to us, may face a risk of enforcement actions by
data protection authorities in the EEA until the time, if any, that personal data transfers to us and by us from the EEA are legitimized under applicable EU data
protection law.
Additionally, the federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations that apply to our business are complex and change frequently, with new laws and
regulations proposed frequently and existing laws and regulations subject to different and conflicting interpretations. For example, the European Union is
considering adoption of a general data protection regulation that would supersede current EU data protection legislation, impose more stringent EU data protection
requirements, and provide for greater penalties for noncompliance. Complying with the laws and regulations applicable to us may require us to incur additional
costs and restrict our business operations, and in the event we fail to comply with these laws and regulations, or new or differing interpretations of them, we may be
subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, fines or other liabilities, as well as negative
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publicity and a loss of business. Any of these matters could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or opera tional results.
Economic and other risks associated with international operations could impede our international expansion, which could limit our future growth.
We currently operate in the U.S. and through foreign subsidiaries in Dublin, Ireland; Ottawa, Canada; George Town, Grand Cayman; Brisbane,
Australia; and Beijing, China and we may continue to expand into additional international markets. Our limited experience operating internationally exposes us to
additional risks and operating costs. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in introducing or marketing our services internationally or that our services
will gain market acceptance or that growth in commercial use of the internet internationally will continue. There are risks inherent in conducting business in
international markets, including the need to localize our products and services to foreign customers’ preferences and customs, difficulties in managing operations
due to language barriers, distance, staffing and cultural differences, application of foreign laws and regulations, tariffs and other trade barriers, fluctuations in
currency exchange rates, establishing management systems and infrastructures, reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries, changes in
foreign political and economic conditions, and potentially adverse tax consequences. Our inability to expand and market our products and services internationally
could have a negative effect on our business, revenue, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, we expect that a substantial amount of our cash will be generated by our foreign subsidiaries and repatriation of that cash to the U.S. may
be inefficient from a tax perspective. Any payment of distributions, loans or advances to us by our foreign subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on, or
taxation of, dividends or repatriation of earnings under applicable local law, monetary transfer restrictions and foreign currency exchange regulations in the
jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries operate. These restrictions on our investment or repatriation of cash may have a negative effect on our business, revenue,
financial condition and results of operations.
If we fail to comply with applicable payment card rules and regulations, we may incur additional fees, fines and ultimately the revocation of the right to accept
payment card payments, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Many of our customers pay amounts owed to us using a credit card or debit card. For credit and debit card payments, we pay interchange and other
fees, which may increase over time and raise our expenses and adversely affect our net income. We are also subject to payment card association operating rules,
certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply.
If we fail to comply with these rules or requirements, or with the terms of our agreements with our merchant banks and card issuers, we could be subject to fines
and higher transaction fees and lose our ability to accept credit and debit card payments from our customers. We have experienced non-compliance with certain
payment card association operating rules and information security standards, and may experience such failures in the future as such rules and standards evolve and
our business changes and expands. Any failure to adequately secure payment card information or to appropriately control fraudulent payment card transactions
would result in significantly higher payment card‑related costs, fines or fees from card issuers, and expenses related to remediation of non-compliance, and could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are subject to a number of state, federal or international taxation laws and regulations and will become subject to additional taxation laws and regulations
as we continue to expand our operations into new jurisdictions. Changes to taxation laws and regulations may adversely affect our business.
Due to the global nature of the internet, it is possible that, although our services and the internet transmissions related to them typically originate in
California, Nevada, Virginia, Washington and Australia, governments of other states or foreign countries might attempt to regulate our transmissions or levy sales,
income or other taxes relating to our activities. Tax authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate treatment
of companies engaged in internet commerce. New or revised international, federal, state or local tax regulations may subject our customers or us to additional sales,
income and other taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales, income or other taxes on commerce over the
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internet. New or revised taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractivenes s of advertising
and selling goods and services over the internet. New taxes could also create significant increases in internal costs necessary to capture data, and collect and remit
taxes. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations and discourage the registration or renewal of domain names for e
‑commerce.
We may in the future record significant valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets, which may have a material impact on our results of operations and
cause fluctuations in such results.
The need for a valuation allowance requires an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when determining whether it is more likely than not
that deferred tax assets are recoverable; such assessment is required on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. In making such assessment, significant weight is given
to evidence that can be objectively verified. Projected future growth in our deferred tax assets indicate that we will have deferred tax assets by the end of the
current year that will require a domestic valuation allowance as it is more likely than not that those deferred tax assets will not be realized. When calculating the
annual effective income tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, we included the anticipated valuation allowance in the effective tax rate to
ensure that the tax benefit recorded on the year-to-date losses would not exceed the amount expected to be benefited during the current year. We will continue to
assess the need for a valuation allowance in the future. In the event that we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or a portion of our net
deferred tax assets in the future, we would reduce such amounts through a charge to income tax expense in the period on which that determination was made, which
could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Relating to the Separation
We are bound by a number of agreements, including the Employee Matters Agreement, Separation and Distribution Agreement and the Tax Matters
Agreement, that we entered into with Demand Media in connection with the Separation.
In connection with our August 2014 separation (the “Separation”) from Demand Media, Inc. (“Demand Media”), we entered into a number of
agreements with Demand Media that govern our ongoing relationships.
The Employee Matters Agreement allocated certain liabilities and responsibilities between us and Demand Media relating to employee compensation
and benefit plans and programs.
The Separation and Distribution Agreement governs certain aspects of our relationship with Demand Media, including providing information to the
other party on the conduct of its business prior to the Separation reasonably necessary to prepare any reports or filings to be made with any governmental
authority. In addition, each party is required to indemnify the other for certain liabilities in connection with the Separation, all liabilities to the extent relating to or
arising out of our or their respective business as conducted at any time, and any breach by either party of this agreement.
The Tax Matters Agreement governs our and Demand Media’s respective rights, responsibilities and obligations with respect to taxes. Taxes relating
to or arising out of the failure of the Separation to qualify as a tax-free transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be borne by Demand Media and us in
proportion to Demand Media's and our respective fair market values as of the date of the Separation, except, in general, if such failure is attributable to our action or
Demand Media's action, as the case may be, or certain transactions involving our stock or the stock of Demand Media, as the case may be, in which event the
resulting liability will be borne in full by us or Demand Media, respectively.
If we are required to indemnify Demand Media for certain liabilities and related losses arising in connection with any of these agreements, or if
Demand Media is required to indemnify us for certain liabilities and related losses arising in connection with any of these agreements and Demand Media does not
fulfill its obligations to us, we may be subject to substantial liabilities, which could materially adversely affect our financial position.
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If the Separation and related distribution of Rightside stock fails to qualify as a tax-free transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, then the distribution
could result in significant tax liabilities.
Demand Media received a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and an opinion of tax counsel, each substantially to the effect
that for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Separation and the distribution of shares of Rightside common stock qualifies as a transaction that was tax-free for
purposes of income, gain or loss by Demand Media or its stockholders. The IRS ruling and the tax opinion, rely on certain facts, assumptions, and undertakings,
and certain representations from Demand Media and us, regarding the past and future conduct of both respective businesses and other matters, and the tax opinion
relies on the IRS ruling. Notwithstanding the IRS ruling and the tax opinion, the IRS could determine that the distribution should be treated as a taxable transaction
if it determines that any of these facts, assumptions, representations, or undertakings are not correct, or that the distribution should be taxable for other reasons,
including if the IRS were to agree with the conclusions in the tax opinion that are not covered by the IRS ruling.
If the distribution ultimately were to be determined to be taxable, Demand Media would be subject to tax as if it had sold our common stock in a
taxable sale for its fair market value, and our initial public stockholders would be subject to tax as if they had received a taxable distribution equal to the fair market
value of our common stock that was distributed to them. Under the Tax Matters Agreement, we may be required to indemnify Demand Media against all or a
portion of the taxes incurred by Demand Media and us in the event the Separation were to fail to qualify for tax-free treatment under the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”). Further, even if we are not responsible for tax liabilities of Demand Media and its subsidiaries under the Tax Matters Agreement,
we nonetheless could be liable under applicable tax law for such liabilities if Demand Media were to fail to pay them. The amounts, if we are required to pay any
liabilities under the circumstances set forth in the Tax Matters Agreement or pursuant to applicable tax law, may be significant.
We are subject to continuing contingent liabilities of Demand Media following the Separation.
There are several significant areas where the liabilities of Demand Media may become our obligations. For example, under the Code and the related
rules and regulations, each corporation that was a member of the Demand Media combined tax reporting group during any taxable period or portion of any taxable
period ending on or before the effective time of the Separation is jointly and severally liable for the U.S. federal income tax liability of the entire Demand Media
combined tax reporting group for such taxable period. In connection with the Separation, we entered into a Tax Matters Agreement with Demand Media that
allocates the responsibility for prior period taxes of the Demand Media combined tax reporting group between us and Demand Media. If Demand Media were
unable to pay any prior period taxes for which it is responsible, however, we could be required to pay the entire amount of such taxes, and such amounts could be
significant. Other provisions of federal, state, local, or foreign law may establish similar liability for other matters, including laws governing tax‑qualified pension
plans, as well as other contingent liabilities.
Certain of our directors and officers and entities related to them continue to own a substantial amount of Demand Media common stock and options to
purchase Demand Media stock, and we have overlapping board membership with Demand Media, which may lead to conflicting interests.
One of our board members serves as a board member of Demand Media. Neither we nor Demand Media have any ownership interest in the other. Our
executive officers and members of our board of directors have fiduciary duties to our stockholders. Likewise, any director who serves in a similar capacity at
Demand Media has fiduciary duties to Demand Media’s stockholders. Therefore, the overlapping director may have conflicts of interest or the appearance of
conflicts of interest with respect to matters involving or affecting more than one of the companies to which he owes fiduciary duties. In addition, certain of our
directors and officers and entities related to them continue to own a substantial amount of Demand Media common stock and options to purchase Demand Media
stock. The direct interests of our directors and officers and related entities in common stock of Demand Media could create, or appear to create, potential conflicts
of interest with respect to matters involving both Demand Media and us that could have different implications for Demand Media than they do for us.
As a result of the foregoing, there may be the potential for a conflict of interest when we or Demand Media consider acquisitions and other corporate
opportunities that may be suitable for each of them. In addition, potential
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conflicts of interest could arise in connection with the resolution of any dispute that may arise between Demand Media and us regarding the terms of the agreement
s governing the internal reorganization, the Separation and the ongoing relationship between the companies, including with respect to the indemnification of certain
matters. From time to time, we may enter into transactions with Demand Media and/or its sub sidiaries or other affiliates. There can be no assurance that the terms
of any such transactions will be as favorable to us as would be the case where there is no overlapping director or ownership of both companies.
Our overlapping director with Demand Media may result in the diversion of corporate opportunities to and other conflicts with Demand Media and provisions
in our certificate of incorporation may provide us no remedy in that circumstance.
Our certificate of incorporation acknowledges that our directors and officers may also be serving as directors, officers, employees or agents of Demand
Media and its subsidiaries and that we may engage in business transactions with such entities. We will renounce our rights to business opportunities offered to
overlapping officers and/or directors in which we or any of our subsidiaries could have an interest or expectancy (other than business opportunities that (1) are
expressly presented or offered to an overlapping officer or director in his or her capacity as a director or officer of our company, and (2) the overlapping officer or
director believes we have, or could reasonably be expected to have, the resources necessary to exploit). In addition, our certificate of incorporation provides that
none of our directors or officers who is also serving as a director, officer, employee or agent of Demand Media and its subsidiaries will be liable to us or our
stockholders for breach of any fiduciary duty that would otherwise exist by reason of the fact that any such individual directs a corporate opportunity to Demand
Media or any of its subsidiaries instead of us, or does not refer or communicate information regarding such corporate opportunities to us. These provisions in our
certificate of incorporation also expressly validate certain contracts, agreements, assignments and transactions (and amendments, modifications or terminations
thereof) between us and Demand Media or any of its subsidiaries and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, provide that the actions of the overlapping directors or
officers in connection therewith are not breaches of fiduciary duties owed to us, any of our subsidiaries or our or their respective stockholders.
The Separation may expose us to potential liabilities arising out of state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws and legal dividend requirements.
The Separation is subject to review under various state and federal fraudulent conveyance laws. Fraudulent conveyance laws generally provide that an
entity engages in a constructive fraudulent conveyance when (1) the entity transfers assets and does not receive fair consideration or reasonably equivalent value in
return; and (2) the entity: (a) is insolvent at the time of the transfer or is rendered insolvent by the transfer; (b) has unreasonably small capital with which to carry
on its business; or (c) intends to incur or believes it will incur debts beyond its ability to repay its debts as they mature. An unpaid creditor or entity acting on behalf
of a creditor (including without limitation a trustee or debtor‑in‑possession in a bankruptcy by us or Demand Media or any of our respective subsidiaries) may
bring an action alleging that the Separation or any of the related transactions constituted a constructive fraudulent conveyance. If a court accepts these allegations, it
could impose a number of remedies, including without limitation, voiding our claims against Demand Media, requiring our stockholders to return to Demand
Media some or all of the shares of our common stock issued in the Separation, or providing Demand Media with a claim for money damages against us in an
amount equal to the difference between the consideration received by Demand Media and our fair market value at the time of the Separation.
The measure of insolvency for purposes of the fraudulent conveyance laws will vary depending on which jurisdiction’s law is applied. Generally, an
entity would be considered insolvent if (1) the present fair saleable value of its assets is less than the amount of its liabilities (including contingent liabilities);
(2) the present fair saleable value of its assets is less than its probable liabilities on its debts as such debts become absolute and matured; (3) it cannot pay its debts
and other liabilities (including contingent liabilities and other commitments) as they mature; or (4) it has unreasonably small capital for the business in which it is
engaged. We cannot assure you what standard a court would apply to determine insolvency or that a court would determine that we, Demand Media or any of our
respective subsidiaries were solvent at the time of or after giving effect to the Separation.
The distribution of our common stock is also subject to review under state corporate distribution statutes. Under the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), a corporation may only pay dividends
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to its stockholders either (1) out of its surplus (net assets minus capital) or (2) if there is no such surplus, out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the
dividend is declared and/or t he preceding fiscal year. Although Demand Media distributed our common stock entirely from surplus, we cannot assure you that a
court will not later determine that some or all of the distribution to Demand Media stockholders was unlawful.
Risks Relating to Owning Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly.
We cannot predict the prices at which our common stock may trade in the future. The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly,
depending on many factors, some of which are beyond our control, including but not limited to:
·

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual financial condition and operating performance;

·

the operating and stock price performance of similar companies;

·

a shift in our investor base;

·

introduction of new services by us or our competitors;

·

success or failure of our business strategy;

·

our ability to obtain financing as needed;

·

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles;

·

the overall performance of the equity markets;

·

the number of shares of our common stock publicly owned and available for trading;

·

threatened or actual litigation or governmental investigations;

·

changes in laws or regulations affecting our business, including tax legislation;

·

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions or dispositions;

·

any major change in our board of directors or management;

·

changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts or our ability to meet earnings guidance;

·

publication of research reports about us or our industry or changes in recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities
analysts;

·

large volumes of sales of our shares of common stock by existing stockholders;

·

announcements or actions by stockholder activists;

·

investor perception of us and our industry; and

·

general political and economic conditions, and other external factors.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for internet‑related companies in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. This may limit or prevent investors from readily
selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our common stock. Securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company’s securities. This litigation, if instituted
against us, could result in very substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, financial condition and results of
operation.
-49-

Any impairment in the value of our goodwill will result in an accounting charge against our earnings, which could negatively impact our stock price.
As of June 30, 2016, we had $103.0 million of goodwill, representing approximately 31% of our total assets as of such date. In accordance with
GAAP, we conduct an impairment analysis of our goodwill annually and at such other times when an event or change in circumstances occurs which would
indicate potential impairment. Significant and sustained declines in our stock price and market capitalization relative to our book value or our inability to generate
sufficient revenue or cash flows may result in us having to take impairment charges against goodwill. If we determine significant impairment of our goodwill, we
would be required to record a corresponding non-cash impairment charge against our earnings that could negatively affect our stock price.
We may issue preferred stock with terms that could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock.
While we have no specific plan to issue preferred stock, our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue, without the approval of our
stockholders, one or more series of preferred stock having such designation, powers, privileges, preferences, including preferences over our common stock
respecting dividends and distributions, terms of redemption and relative participation, optional, or other rights, if any, of the shares of each such series of preferred
stock and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, as our board of directors may determine. The terms of one or more series of preferred stock could
dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock. For example, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we could assign to
holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the common stock.
The large number of shares eligible for public sale or subject to rights requiring us to register them for public sale could depress the market price of our
common stock.
The market price of our common stock could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock in the market, and the
perception that these sales could occur may also depress the market price of our common stock. A decline in the price of shares of our common stock might impede
our ability to raise capital through the issuance of additional shares of our common stock or other equity securities.
We also may issue our shares of common stock from time to time as consideration for future acquisitions and investments. If any such acquisition or
investment is significant, the number of shares that we may issue may in turn be significant. In addition, we may also grant registration rights covering those shares
in connection with any such acquisitions and investments.
If securities or industry analysts do not continue to publish research about our business or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our
business and our stock, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
We expect that the trading market for our common stock will be affected by research or reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or
our business. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which may cause
our stock price and trading volume to decline. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about
our business, our stock price would likely decline.
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We are an “Emerging Growth Company,” and cannot be certain if reduced reporting requirements applicable to “Emerging Growth Companies” will make
our common stock less attractive to investors.
The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, relax certain reporting requirements for “Emerging Growth Companies,” including certain
requirements relating to accounting standards and compensation disclosure. We are classified as an “Emerging Growth Company,” which is defined as a company
with annual gross revenue of less than $1.0 billion, that has been a public reporting company for a period of less than five years, and that does not have a public
float of $700.0 million or more in securities held by non‑affiliated holders. We will remain an “Emerging Growth Company” until the earliest to occur of:
·

the last day of the fiscal year during which our total annual revenue equals or exceeds $1.0 billion (subject to adjustment for inflation),

·

the last day of the fiscal year in which we become a “large accelerated filer” under the Exchange Act, or

·

the date on which we have, during the previous three‑year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non‑convertible debt.

For as long as we are an “Emerging Growth Company,” which may be up to five full fiscal years, if we elect to take advantage of applicable JOBS Act
provisions, unlike other public companies, we will not be required to (1) provide an auditor’s attestation report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
our system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act, (2) comply with any new or revised financial accounting
standards applicable to public companies until such standards are also applicable to private companies under Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act, (3) comply with
any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”), such as requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a
supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about the audit and the financial statements of the
issuer, (4) comply with any new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012 unless the SEC determines otherwise, (5) provide certain disclosure
regarding executive compensation or (6) hold nonbinding advisory votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments
not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find
our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our
stock price may be materially and adversely affected and more volatile.
As noted above, under the JOBS Act, “Emerging Growth Companies” can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards that have different
effective dates for public and private companies until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We will not take advantage of such extended
transition period, and as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for
public companies. Our election not to take advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable.
We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. We may not timely complete our analysis of our
internal control over financial reporting, or these internal controls may be determined to be ineffective, which could adversely affect investor confidence in us
and, as a result, the value of our common stock.
We are required to file with the SEC annual, quarterly and current reports that are specified in Section 13 of the Exchange Act. We are also required to
ensure that we have the ability to prepare financial statements that are fully compliant with all SEC reporting requirements on a timely basis. In addition, we are
subject to other reporting and corporate governance requirements, including the requirements of NASDAQ, and certain provisions of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act and
the regulations promulgated thereunder, which impose significant compliance obligations upon us. As a public company, we are required to:
·

prepare and distribute periodic public reports and other stockholder communications in compliance with our obligations under the federal
securities laws and the NASDAQ Listing Rules;

·

create or expand the roles and duties of our board of directors and committees of the board of directors;
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·

institute more comprehensive financial reporting and disclosure compliance functions;

·

supplement our internal accounting and auditing function, including retaining and hiring additional staff with expertise in accounting and
financial reporting for a public company;

·

formalize closing procedures at the end of our accounting periods;

·

maintain an enhanced internal audit function;

·

maintain an enhanced investor relations function;

·

maintain and establish new internal policies, including those relating to disclosure controls and procedures; and

·

involve and retain to a greater degree outside counsel and accountants in the activities listed above.

These obligations require a significant commitment of resources, and may require additional resources after we are no longer an “Emerging Growth
Company.” We may not be successful in implementing these requirements and implementing them could adversely affect our business or results of operations. In
addition, if we fail to implement the requirements with respect to our internal accounting and audit functions, our ability to report our results of operations on a
timely and accurate basis could be impaired.
If we fail to implement and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud,
which could harm our brand and operating results.
Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable and accurate financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. We expect to devote
significant resources and time to comply with the internal control over financial reporting requirements of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act, including costs associated with
auditing and legal fees and accounting and administrative staff. In addition, Section 404(a) under the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act requires that we assess the effectiveness
of our controls over financial reporting. Our future compliance with the annual internal control report requirement will depend on the effectiveness of our financial
reporting and data systems and controls across our operating subsidiaries. We expect these systems and controls to become increasingly complex to the extent that
our business grows. To effectively manage this growth, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls and our reporting
systems and procedures. Implementing any changes to our internal controls may require compliance training of our directors, officers and employees, entail
substantial costs to modify our accounting systems and take a significant period of time to complete. Such changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining
the adequacy of our internal control over financial reporting, and any failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial
statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and could materially impair our ability to operate our business. In addition, investors’ perceptions
that our internal control over financial reporting is inadequate or that we are unable to produce accurate financial statements may materially adversely affect our
stock price.
Because we are an “Emerging Growth Company” under the JOBS Act, our independent auditors are not required to attest to the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act. If, once we are no longer an “Emerging Growth Company,” our
independent registered public accounting firm cannot provide an unqualified attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting,
investor confidence and, in turn, the market price of our common stock, could decline.
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Certain provisions in our charter documents and Delaware law could discourage takeover attempts and lead to management entren chment and, therefore, may
depress the trading price of our common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in our
management without the consent of our board of directors, including, among other things:
·

a classified board of directors with three‑year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a
majority of our board of directors;

·

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

·

the ability of our board of directors to determine to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares,
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile
acquirer;

·

the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

·

limitations on the removal of directors;

·

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

·

the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, the Chief Executive Officer,
the president (in absence of a Chief Executive Officer) or our board of directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;

·

the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of at least 66 2 / 3 % of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the voting
stock, voting together as a single class, to amend the provisions of our certificate of incorporation relating to the issuance of preferred stock and
management of our business or our bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquiror from amending our certificate of incorporation or bylaws
to facilitate a hostile acquisition;

·

the ability of our board of directors, by majority vote, to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to
prevent a hostile acquisition and inhibit the ability of an acquiror from amending the bylaws to facilitate a hostile acquisition; and

·

advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to
be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect
the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

We believe these provisions protect our stockholders from coercive or harmful takeover tactics by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our
board of directors and by providing our board of directors with adequate time to assess any acquisition proposal, and are not intended to make our company
immune from takeovers. These provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in
control of the company that is in the best interest of our stockholders. Even in the absence of a takeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may adversely
affect the prevailing market price of our common stock if they are viewed as discouraging future takeover attempts.
We are also subject to certain anti‑takeover provisions under Delaware law. Under Delaware law, a corporation may not, in general, engage in a
business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock for three years or, among other things, our board of
directors has approved the transaction.
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Our certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclus ive forum for certain litigation that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.
Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State
of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of
fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or our stockholders; (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of
the DGCL or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws; or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Our certificate of incorporation
further provides that any person or entity purchasing or acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented
to the provisions described above. This forum selection provision in our certificate of incorporation may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial
forum for disputes with us.
Item 6. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Exhibits
The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC, in each case as
indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
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SIGNAT URES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
RIGHTSIDE GROUP, LTD.
Date: August 9, 2016

By /s/ Taryn J. Naidu
Taryn J. Naidu
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 9, 2016

By: /s/ Tracy Knox
Tracy Knox
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Taryn Naidu, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Rightside Group, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2016
/s/ Taryn J. Naidu
Taryn J. Naidu
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Tracy Knox, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Rightside Group, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(b)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d )

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2016
/s/ Tracy Knox
Tracy Knox
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016 of Rightside Group, Ltd. (the “Company”) as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Taryn J. Naidu, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2016
/s/ Taryn J. Naidu
Taryn J. Naidu
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of Rightside Group, Ltd. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether
made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016 of Rightside Group, Ltd. (the “Company”) as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Tracy Knox, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1.

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2016
/s/ Tracy Knox
Tracy Knox
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated
by reference into any filing of Rightside Group, Ltd. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether
made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

